IN-PIPETTE TIP MONOLITHIC MICRO-SOLID PHASE EXTRACTION COUPLED WITH HIGH PERFORMANCE LIQUID CHROMATOGRAPHY FOR SIMULTANEOUS DETERMINATION OF RACTOPAMINE AND CLENBUTEROL IN ANIMAL URINE AND

MEAT SAMPLES

Kesara Ar-sanork

รักษาลัยเทคโนโลยีสุร^น์

A Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the

Degree of Master of Science in Chemistry

Suranaree University of Technology

Academic Year 2018

การสกัดแบบใช้สารน้อยด้วยของแข็งโมโนลิธในปิเปตทิปร่วมกับ โครมาโทกราฟีของเหลวสมรรถนะสูงสำหรับการหาปริมาณแรคโตพามีน และเคลนบูเทอรอลในตัวอย่างปัสสาวะและเนื้อสัตว์



วิทยานิพนธ์นี้เป็นส่วนหนึ่งของการศึกษาตามหลักสูตรปริญญาวิทยาศาสตรมหาบัณฑิต สาขาวิชาเคมี มหาวิทยาลัยเทคโนโลยีสุรนารี ปีการศึกษา 2561

IN-PIPETTE TIP MONOLITHIC MICRO-SOLID PHASE EXTRACTION COUPLED WITH HIGH PERFORMANCE LIQUID CHROMATOGRAPHY FOR SIMULTANEOUS DETERMINATION OF RACTOPAMINE AND CLENBUTEROL IN ANIMAL URINE AND MEAT SAMPLES

Suranaree University of Technology has approved this thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for a Master's Degree.

Thesis Examining Committee

DAME MOON

(Prof. Dr. Jatuporn Wittayakun)

Chairperson

wosuns

(Asst. Prof. Dr. Patcharin Chaisuwan)

Member (Thesis Advisor)

(Assoc. Prof. Dr. Sanchai Prayoonpokarach)

Member VUCUG JUDG

(Dr. Piyanut Pinyou)

้ารักย

Member eun

(Assoc. Prof. Capt. Dr. Kontorn Chamniprasart) (Assoc. Prof. Dr. Worawat Meevasana)

Vice Rector for Academic Affairs

Dean of Institute of Science

and Internationalization

เกศรา อาษานอก : การสกัดแบบใช้สารน้อยด้วยของแข็งโมโนลิธในปีเปตทิปร่วมกับโคร มาโทกราฟีของเหลวสมรรถนะสูงสำหรับการหาปริมาณแรคโตพามีนและเคลนบูเทอรอลใน ด้วอย่างปัสสาวะและเนื้อสัตว์ (IN-PIPETTE TIP MONOLITHIC MICRO SOLID PHASE EXTRACTION COUPLED WITH HIGH PERFORMANCE LIQUID CHROMATOGRAPHY FOR SIMULTANEOUS DETERMINATION OF RACTOPAMINE AND CLENBUTEROL IN ANIMAL URINE AND MEAT SAMPLES) อาจารย์ที่ปรึกษา : ผู้ช่วยศาสตราจารย์ คร.พัชรินทร์ ชัยสุวรรณ, 82 หน้า

์ แรคโตพามีนและเกลนบูเทอรอลเป็น<mark>สา</mark>รกลุ่มเบตาอะโกนิสท์ ซึ่งถกจัดเป็นสารพิษที่มีการ ้ ลักลอบใช้งานอย่างผิดกฎหมายโดยเกษตรก<mark>รผู้เลี้ยง</mark>สัตว์ในประเทศไทย เพื่อลดปริมาณไขมันและเพิ่ม ้ปริมาณเนื้อแคงในสัตว์ เนื่องจากความเป็นพื้นของสารกลุ่มนี้ทำให้วิธีวิเคราะห์เพื่อควบคุมคุณภาพของ อาหารและป้องกันการลักลอบใช้งานของแรกโตพามีนและเคลนบูเทอรอลในการปศุสัตว์มีความจำเป็น ้อย่างยิ่ง ในงานวิจัยนี้พัฒนาการสกัดแ<mark>บบ</mark>ใช้สารน้อ<mark>ยด้</mark>วยของแข็งโมโนลิธในปีเปตทิปร่วมกับโคร มาโทกราฟีของเหลวสมรรถนะสูง<mark>สำห</mark>รับการหาปริมาณ<mark>แรก</mark>โตพามีนและเกลนบเทอรอลในตัวอย่าง ป์สสาวะและเนื้อสัตว์ โดยทำก<mark>ารแย</mark>กบนซิลิกาคอลัมน์ที่<mark>ดัดแ</mark>ปลงให้มีหมู่ฟังก์ชันเป็น C.และเฟส เกลื่อนที่เป็น 25% (v/v) อะซิโตรในไทรล์ในอะซิเตตบัฟเฟอร์ความเข้มข้น 20 มิลลิโมลาร์พีเอช 4.0 ที่มี ใตรเอทิลอะมีนความเข้มข้น 2 มิลลิโมลาร์ ที่สภาวะการแยกคังกล่าวสารทั้งสองสามารถแยกจากกันได้ ในเวลา 7 นาที ตัวดูดซับโ<mark>มโนลิ</mark>ธสำหรับการสกัดสังเคราะห์จากกรคเมทาอคริลิก (Methacrylic acid) ซึ่ง ทำหน้าที่กำหนดคุณสมบัติ<mark>ทางเคมี และเอทิลีน ใกลคอล ใ</mark>คเมทาคริเลท (Ethylene glycol dimethacrylate) ที่เป็นตัวเชื่อมโยงโครงสร้างโมโนลิธในออโตปีเปตทิป โดยการสังเคราะห์มี องค์ประกอบและสภาวะที่เหมาะสมคือ อัตราส่วนมอนอเมอร์ต่อตัวทำละลายเท่ากับ 18:82 และทำการ พอลิเมอร์ไรด้วยความร้อนที่อุณหภูมิ 75 องศาเซลเซียสเป็นเวลา 1 ชั่วโมง 10 นาที โมโนลิธในปีเปตทิป ้นี้ใด้ถูกเชื่อมต่อเข้ากับวาล์แบบสามทางและกระบอกฉีดยาเพื่อใช้สำหรับการสกัด จากการศึกษาสภาวะ ที่เหมาะสมพบว่า 10% (v/v) อะซิโตรในไทรล์ในน้ำ (ปริมาตร 800 ไมโครลิตร) และ 30% (v/v) อะซิโตร ในไทรล์ในอะซิเตตบัฟเฟอร์ความเข้มข้น 200 มิลลิโมลาร์พีเอช 4.0 (ปริมาตร 150 ไมโครลิตร) เป็น สารละลายที่เหมาะสมสำหรับขั้นตอนการล้างและชะสารตามลำคับ ความเที่ยงของการเตรียม โมโนลิธ ในปีเปตทิปเปรียบเทียบระหว่างการเตรียมในชุดเดียวกันและระหว่างชุด จากประสิทธิภาพการสกัด พบว่าร้อยละส่วนเบี่ยงเบนมาตรฐานสัมพัทธ์มีค่าน้อยกว่า 3.18 และความเที่ยงในการวิเคราะห์ที่คำนวณ ้จากพื้นที่ใต้พีคของสารภายในวันเดียวกันและระหว่างวันมีค่าร้อยละส่วนเบี่ยงเบนมาตรฐานสัมพัทธ์ น้อยกว่า 3.26 ความจุของวัสดุโมโนลิธสำหรับแรคโตพามีนและเคลนบูเทอรอลมีค่ามากกว่า 10 และ 20 ใมโครกรัมตามลำคับ การสกัคแบบใช้สารน้อยด้วยของแข็งโมโนลิธในปีเปตทิปสามารถใช้งานซ้ำได้ อย่างน้อย 10 ครั้ง โดยยังคงมีประสิทธิภาพการสกัคที่คีและสามารถเก็บได้ที่อุณหภูมิห้องนานกว่า 6 เคือน สำหรับการโหลดตัวอย่างปริมาตร 2.00 มิลลิลิตรและใช้สารละลายสำหรับชะปริมาตร 150 ใมโครลิตร สามารถเพิ่มความเข้มข้นของสารทั้งสองได้ถึง 12 และ 13 เท่า มีประสิทธิภาพการสกัคร้อย ละ 92 และ 100 และมีขีดจำกัดการตรวจวัดเท่ากับ 1.3 และ 0.2 ไมโครกรัมต่อลิตรสำหรับแรคโตพามีน และเคลนบูเทอรอลตามลำคับ การสกัดแบบใช้สารน้อยด้วยของแข็งโมโนลิธในปีเปตทิปร่วมกับโคร มาโทกราฟีของเหลวสมรรถนะสูงได้ประยุกต์ใช้สำหรับการหาปริมาณแรคโตพามีนและเคลนบูเทอรอล ที่เติมลงในตัวอย่างปัสสาวะและเนื้อสัตว์ พบว่ามีก่าร้อยละการกีนกลับที่ดีในช่วง 84-114 สำหรับ ด้วอย่างปัสสาวะสัตว์และ 89-112 สำหรับตัวอย่างเนื้อสัตว์ วิธีการสกัคแบบใช้สารน้อยด้วยของแข็ง ร่วมกับโครมาโทกราฟีของเหลวสมรรถนะสูงนี้ใช้เวลาในการวิเคราะห์เพียง 12 นาทีต่อตัวอย่าง ตัวสกัด แบบใช้สารน้อยด้วยของแข็งโมโนลิธช่วยลดเวลา ปริมาตรตัวอย่างและสารละลายในกระบวนการสกัด อย่างมีนัยสำคัญ



| สาขาวิชาเคมี | ลายมือชื่อนักศึกษา | rugh |
|-----------------|----------------------------|--------|
| ปีการศึกษา 2561 | ลายมือชื่ออาจารย์ที่ปรึกษา | nerral |

KESARA AR-SANORK : IN-PIPETTE TIP MONOLITHIC MICRO SOLID PHASE EXTRACTION COUPLED WITH HIGH PERFORMANCE LIQUID CHROMATOGRAPHY FOR SIMULTANEOUS DETERMINATION OF RACTOPAMINE AND CLENBUTEROL IN ANIMAL URINE AND MEAT SAMPLES. THESIS ADVISOR : ASST. PROF. PATCHARIN CHAISUWAN, Ph.D. 82 PP.

MICRO SOLID PHASE EXTRACTION/MONOLITH/BETA-AGONISTS/ RACTOPAMINE/CLENBUTEROL

Ractopamine (RAC) and clenbuterol (CLEN) are two common β -agonists illegally used by Thai farmers to reduce fat and increase muscle mass in animal producing. As the residues of these compounds can cause the serious problems in human health, the analytical method for determination of these compounds is thus necessary for controlling food quality and preventing the use of the β -agonists in livestock. In this research, in-pipette tip monolithic micro-solid phase extraction (μ -SPE) off-line coupled with high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) was developed for determination of RAC and CLEN in animal urine and meat samples. Rapid separation was carried out on silica-based C₈ column with optimum mobile phase of 25% (v/v) acetonitrile (ACN) in 20 mM acetate buffer pH 4.0 containing 2 mM triethylamine. RAC and CLEN could be separated within 7 min. Monolithic sorbent for the extraction, was *in-situ* synthesized from methacrylic acid as a functional monomer and ethylene glycol dimethacrylate as a crosslinker in auto-pipette tip. Monolithic composition of 18:82 (monomer:porogen) with thermal polymerization at 75°C for 1 hr and 10 min was the optimum condition for the synthesis of monolith. The monolith in-pipette tip was assembled with T-way valve

and syringes to perform the extraction. From the optimization, 10% (v/v) ACN in water (800 μ L) and 30% (v/v) ACN in 200 mM acetate buffer pH 4.0 (150 μ L) were the optimum solvents for washing and elution steps, respectively. The precision (%RSD) for the extraction efficiency from tip-to-tip and batch-to-batch preparations were less than 3.18% and inter-day and intra-day precisions of the analysis (calculated from peak area) were less than 3.26%. Capacities of the monolithic material were higher than 10 and 20 µg for RAC and CLEN, respectively. The in-pipette tip monolithic µ-SPE could be reused at least 10 times without loss of the extraction performance and stored at room temperature for at least 6 months. The sample loading of 2.00 mL with eluting volume of 150 µL provided pre-concentration factor of 12 and 13 with extraction efficiency of 92% and 100% and limits of detection of 1.3 and 0.2 μ g L⁻¹ for RAC and CLEN. respectively. The in-pipette tip monolithic µ-SPE was off-line coupled with HPLC for the determination of RAC and CLEN in spiked animal urine and meat samples. Good recovery was achieved in the range of 84-114% for urine samples and 89-112% for meat samples. Total analysis time for our µ-SPE-HPLC method was 12 minutes/sample. The μ-SPE in pipette tip significantly reduced the time, sample and solvent consumption in the process of extraction. ร_{ัวอักยาลัยเทคโนโลยีสุรุน}า

| Student's Signature_ | 60AM |
|----------------------|---------|
| Advisor's Signature | wardens |

Academic Year 2018

School of Chemistry

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to express my sincere thanks of gratitude to my advisor Assist. Prof. Dr. Patcharin Chaisuwan for wonderful guidance, explaining, motivation and supporting in my research. It means a lot to me. This work could not be done without you. Special thanks to Dr. Chanpen Karuwan, my co-advisor for giving me all support and help.

I would like to thank Prof. Dr. Jatuporn Wittayakun, the committee chairman and also the committee members, Assist. Prof. Dr. Sanchai Prayoonpokarach and Dr. Piyanut Pinyou for their valuable time, suggestion and discussion on my thesis defense.

I would like to acknowledge National Science and Technology Development Agency (NSTDA) for providing me a Thailand Graduate Institute of Science and Technology (TGIST) scholarship.

I also thank my good friends Miss. Palmarin Dansirima, Mr. Nawee Jantarit and Mr. Puttimate Thongtan for their help and great support always.

Last but not least, I gratefully thank my parents Mr. Sarayut and Mrs. Kesbongkoach Ar-sanork and my little brother for their support, unconditional love and encouragements.

Kesara Ar-sanork

CONTENTS

| ABSTRACT IN THAII |
|---|
| ABSTRACT IN ENGLISHIII |
| CONTENTSV |
| LIST OF FIGURESIX |
| LIST OF TABLES |
| LIST OF ABBREVIATIONSXIV |
| CHAPTER |
| I INTRODUCTION |
| 1.1 β-Agonists |
| 1.2 Monolith |
| 1.2.1 Types of monolith7 |
| 1.2.1.1 Organic polymer-based monoliths or polymer monoliths7 |
| 1.2.1.2 Inorganic polymer-based monoliths |
| 1.3 Solid phase extraction (SPE) |
| 1.3.1 Solid phase extraction mechanism14 |
| 1.3.2 Solid phase extraction procedure14 |
| 1.4 High performance liquid chromatography (HPLC)18 |
| 1.4.1 Principle of the separation |
| 1.4.2 Mode of LC separation19 |
| 1.4.3 Instrumentation of HPLC 20 |

CONTENTS (Continued)

| | | Page |
|-----|--|------|
| | 1.5 Research objectives | 21 |
| II | LITERATURE REVIEWS | 22 |
| | 2.1 Extraction methods for RAC and CLEN | 22 |
| | 2.2.1 Sold phase extraction (SPE) | 22 |
| | 2.1.1.1 Commercial SPE cartridge | 23 |
| | 2.1.1.2 Molecularly imprinted polymer (MIP) | 24 |
| | 2.1.2 Dispersive solid phase extraction | 25 |
| | 2.1.3 Liquid liquid extraction (LLE) | 25 |
| | 2.2 Analytical methods for determination of RAC and CLEN | 26 |
| | 2.2.1 High performance liquid chromatography-ultraviolet detection | |
| | (HPLC-UV) | 26 |
| | 2.2.2 High performance liquid chromatography-tandem mass | |
| | spectrometry detection (HPLC-MS/MS) | 28 |
| | 2.2.3 Capillary electrophoresis (CE) | 28 |
| | 2.2.4 Raman spectroscopy | 29 |
| | 2.2.5 Colorimetric method | 29 |
| III | MATERIALS AND METHODS | 30 |
| | 3.1 Reagents and chemicals | 30 |
| | 3.2 Instrumentations | 32 |
| | 3.3 Chemical preparation | 33 |
| | 3.3.1 Standard solutions RAC and CLEN | 33 |
| | 3.3.2 20 mM Acetate buffer pH 4.0 and 5.0 | 33 |

CONTENTS (Continued)

| | 3.3.3 20 mM Phosphate buffer pH 2.0, 6.0, 7.0 and 9.0 | 33 |
|----|---|----|
| | 3.3.4 Mobile phase for HPLC analysis | 34 |
| | 3.3.5 50 mM Zinc sulphate | 34 |
| | 3.3.6 Polymerization solution for synthesis of monolithic sorbent | 34 |
| | 3.4 HPLC-UV experiment | 35 |
| | 3.5 Preparation of monolith in pipette tip | 35 |
| | 3.6 Monolith characterization | 36 |
| | 3.7 In-pipette tip monolithic μ-SPE devices | 36 |
| | 3.8 Optimization of in-pipette tip monolithic µ-SPE condition | 37 |
| | 3.9 Sample pre-treatment | 38 |
| | 3.10 Analytical method performances | 39 |
| | 3.10.1 Repeatability of the in-pipette tip monolithic µ-SPE | 39 |
| | 3.10.2 Reusability of the in-pipette tip monolithic µ-SPE | 39 |
| | 3.10.3 Calibration curve (linearity) and breakthrough study | 39 |
| | 3.10.4 Limit of detection (LOD) and limit of quantification (LOQ) | 40 |
| | 3.10.5 Precision | 40 |
| | 3.10.6 Stability | 40 |
| | 3.10.7 Accuracy | 41 |
| | 3.10.8 Pre-concentration factor (P.F.) and extraction efficiency (E.E.) | 42 |
| IV | RESULTS AND DISCUSSIONS | 43 |
| | 4.1 Development of HPLC method | 43 |
| | 4.2 Synthesis and characterization of in-pipette tip monolith | 45 |
| | | |

CONTENTS (Continued)

| Page |
|------|
|------|

| 4.3 Optimization of in-pipette tip monolithic μ-SPE50 |
|--|
| 4.3.1 Washing solvent51 |
| 4.3.2 Eluting solvent |
| 4.4 Analytical method performances57 |
| 4.4.1 Repeatability of the in-pipette tip monolithic μ -SPE57 |
| 4.4.2 Reusability of the in-pipette tip monolithic μ -SPE57 |
| 4.4.3 Breakthrough and calibration curve (linearity) study58 |
| 4.4.4 LOD and LOQ60 |
| 4.4.5 Precision |
| 4.4.6 Stability |
| 4.5 Pre-concentration factor (P.F.) and extraction efficiency (E.E.) |
| 4.6 Application of in-pipette tip monolithic μ-SPE65 |
| V CONCLUSIONS |
| REFERENCES |
| APPENDICES |
| APPENDIX A EFFECT OF POLYMERIZATION TEMPERATURE AND |
| TIME FOR SYNTHESIS OF MONOLITH IN MICRO |
| PIPETTE TIP79 |
| APPENDIX B REUSABILITY OF IN-PIPETTE TIP MONOLITHIC MICRO |
| -SOLID PHAS EXTRACTION80 |
| CURRICULUM VITAE |

LISTS OF FIGURES

| Figu | Figure Page | |
|------|--|--|
| 1.1 | The illegal usage of β -agonists reported by Thai newspapers2 | |
| 1.2 | SEM images of (a) monolithic material (b) macropore and (c) mesopore5 | |
| 1.3 | Examples of crosslinking monomers for the preparation of monolith | |
| 1.4 | SEM images of organic-based monolith prepared in capillary column7 | |
| 1.5 | Radical polymerization reaction of MAA-EDMA monolith using AIBN9 | |
| 1.6 | Example of organic monomers for the preparation of organic polymer- | |
| | based monoliths or polymer monoliths10 | |
| 1.7 | Hydrolysis and condensation reactions for synthesis of inorganic-based | |
| | monolith | |
| 1.8 | SEM images of inorganic-based monolith prepared in capillary column11 | |
| 1.9 | Solid phase extraction procedures14 | |
| 1.10 | Activation of functional groups on the surface of the solid sorbent | |
| 1.11 | The adsorption of analyte on solid sorbent in the loading step15 | |
| 1.12 | 2 (a) SPE cartridge with a chamber and a vacuum pump (b) a commercial | |
| | micro-pipette tip SPE17 | |
| 1.13 | ³ Schematic of the chromatographic separation of two analytes on a column19 | |
| 1.14 | Basic components of a high performance liquid chromatography system20 | |
| 3.1 | Synthesis of in-pipette tip monolith | |
| 3.2 | In-pipette tip monolithic μ -SPE used with (a) auto-micropipette device | |
| | (b) T-way valve device | |

LISTS OF FIGURES (Continued)

| Chromatograms of standard mixture containing 5 mg L ⁻¹ RAC and |
|---|
| 5 mg L^{-1} CLEN. Separation condition; column C_8 , mobile phase of |
| 25% (v/v) ACN in 20 mM acetate buffer pH (a) 4.0 (b) 5.0 (c) 6.0 and |
| (d) 4.0 containing 2 mM TEA, injection volume of 20 μ L, flow rate of |
| 0.7 mL min ⁻¹ and detection wavelength of 210 nm44 |
| SEM images of the representative in-tip monolith (a) cross section of |
| monolith prepared from 18:82 monomer:porogen, polymerization at 75°C |
| for 1 hr and 10 min, (b) image magnification of 300x and 50000x and (c) |
| attachment of the monolith with the inner surface of pipette tip47 |
| FT-IR spectrum of MAA-EDMA monolith synthesized in pipette tip48 |
| (a) Images of in-pipette tip monolithic μ -SPE synthesized from 18:82 |
| monomers:porogens at condition as explained in Section 3.5. (b) functional |
| groups on the surface of the MAA-EDMA monolithic sorbent in pipette tip |
| (main is the hydrophobic skeleton of the monolith) |
| Effect of ACN concentration in washing solvent on signals obtained from |
| spiked urine samples containing 1 mg L^{-1} RAC and 1 mg L^{-1} CLEN |
| Extraction conditions; 300 μ L conditioning solvent of MeOH and 50 μ L |
| water, 800 μ L washing solvent volume, 2.00 mL sample loading, |
| 150 μ L eluting solvent (30% (v/v) ACN in 200 mM acetate buffer pH 4.0) |
| Separation condition; C8 column, mobile phase of 25% (v/v) ACN in |
| 20 mM acetate buffer pH 4.0 containing 2 mM triethylamine, injection of |
| 20 μL , flow rate of 0.7 mL min $^{-1}$ and detection wavelength of 210 nm52 |
| |

LISTS OF FIGURES (Continued)

| 4.6 | Predicted interaction between the analytes and MAA-EDMA monolithic |
|------|---|
| | sorbent in pipette tip53 |
| 4.7 | Effect of pH in the eluting solvent on extraction of 1 mg L^{-1} RAC and |
| | 1 mg L ⁻¹ CLEN in spiked urine samples. Other conditions are in Figure 4.5 |
| | Condition; 800 μ L washing solvent of 10%(v/v) ACN in water54 |
| 4.8 | Effect of ACN concentration in the eluting solvent of ACN in 20 mM |
| | acetate buffer pH 4.0 on extraction of $1 \text{ mg } \text{L}^{-1}$ RAC and $1 \text{ mg } \text{L}^{-1}$ CLEN |
| | in spiked urine samples. The conditions are as described in Figure 4.755 |
| 4.9 | Effect of type of buffer, buffer concentration and salt additive in the |
| | eluting solvent on extraction of 1 mg L ⁻¹ RAC in spiked urine samples |
| | The conditions as described in Figure 4.7 |
| 4.10 | Calibration curves of standard (a) RAC and (b) CLEN. The condition |
| | are as described in Figure 4.7 |
| 4.11 | Effect of sample loading volume on pre-concentration factor (P.F.) and |
| | extraction efficiency (E.E.) (pooled spiked swine urine samples containing |
| | 100 μ g L ⁻¹ RAC and 100 μ g L ⁻¹ CLEN). The condition are as described in |
| | Figure 4.7 |
| 4.12 | Representative chromatograms of spiked samples containing 1 mg L ⁻¹ |
| | RAC and 1 mg L^{-1} CLEN (a) with in-pipette tip monolithic μ -SPE |
| | before HPLC analysis (b) urine sample without in-pipette tip monolithic |
| | μ-SPE. Other condition as described in Figure 4.767 |

Page

LISTS OF TABLES

| Tabl | Table Page | |
|------|--|--|
| 1.1 | Chemical structures with IUPAC name, molecular weight and pKa | |
| | for RAC and CLEN | |
| 1.2 | Comparison of SPE and LLE methods for sample preparation | |
| 1.3 | Comparison of organic monolithic and classical particle based sorbents for | |
| | SPE | |
| 1.4 | Shows five common LC separation modes | |
| 2.1 | Extraction methods using commercial SPE cartridges for sample pre- | |
| | treatment of β-agonists samples23 | |
| 2.2 | The HPLC-UV methods for determination of β -agonists | |
| 3.1 | List of reagents and chemicals | |
| 3.1 | List of reagents and chemicals (Continued) | |
| 3.2 | List of instruments and apparatus | |
| 3.3 | Weight of monomers, porogens and initiator for preparation of the monolith | |
| | in pipette tip35 | |
| 4.1 | The permeability and preparation success rate with various ratio of | |
| | Monomers to porogens | |
| 4.2 | Optimum condition for RAC and CLEN pipette tip monolithic μ -SPE57 | |
| 4.3 | Summary for analytical method performances | |
| 4.4 | Comparison of the method from this work with other works for the | |
| | analysis of RAC and CLEN62 | |

LISTS OF TABLES (Continued)

Table

Page



LISTS OF ABBREVIATIONS

| ACN | Acetonitrile |
|------------|--|
| AIBN | Azobisisobutylronitrile |
| CE | Capillary electrophoresis |
| CLEN | Clenbuterol hydrochloride |
| DPX | Dispersion pipette extraction |
| E.E. | Extraction efficiency |
| EDMA | Ethylene glycol dimethacrylate |
| FT-IR | Fourier-transform infrared spectrometer |
| HLB | Hydrophilic lipophilic balance |
| HPLC | High performance liquid chromatography |
| HPLC-MS/MS | High performance liquid chromatography-tandem mass |
| 5 | spectrometry |
| LLE | Liquid liquid extraction |
| LOD | Limit of detection |
| LOQ | Limit of quantification |
| MAA | Methacrylic acid |
| MCX | Mixed cation exchange |
| МеОН | Methanol |
| MIP | Molecularly imprinted polymer |

LISTS OF ABBREVIATIONS (Continued)

| ND | Not detectable | |
|-------|-----------------------------------|--|
| NIP | Non-molecularly imprinted polymer | |
| P.F. | Pre-concentration factor | |
| RAC | Ractopamine hydrochloride | |
| RSD | Relative standard deviation | |
| SEM | Scanning electron microscope | |
| SPD | Solid phase dispersion | |
| SPE | Solid phase extraction | |
| TEA | Triethylamine | |
| μ-SPE | Micro-solid phase extraction | |
| | | |



CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

This chapter provides the introduction for β -agonists and principle for the material and methods employed in this thesis, including monolithic materials, solid phase extraction and high performance liquid chromatography.

1.1 β-Agonists

β-Agonists are synthetic phenylethanolamine compounds commonly used as treatments for respiratory disorders, asthma, tocolyics, bronchodilators and heart tonics (Shao et al., 2009; Guo et al., 2018). However, β-Agonists were found to be illegally used as animal feed additives by farmers to reduce fat and increase muscle mass in the animal producing (Xiu-Juan et al., 2013; Peng et al., 2018). The residual of these compounds in foods can cause negative effects on human health such as muscular tremors, cardiac palpitation, nervousness, headache, muscular pain, dizziness, nausea, vomiting, fever and chill. These compounds have been forbidden for the livestock in several regious such as European Union or EU (Council Directive 96/23/EC, 1996), China (The Announcement Ministry of Agriculture, No. 176, PR China, 2002), Japan and Thailand (Xiu-Juan et al., 2013).

However, the illegal use of these toxic compounds in Thailand was still recently reported (Figure 1.1).



Figure 1.1 The illegal uses of β-agonists recently reported by Thai newspapers (Found β-agonists in five thousand swine, 2018; Illegal uses of β-agonists in two Chachoengsao farms, 2018; β-agonists in USA pork, 2018; Toxicity of β-agonists, 2018).

Due to the illegal use of some β -agonists are still found, a reliable and accurate analytical method is necessary for controlling food quality and preventing the use of β agonists in livestock. Ractopamine (RAC) and clenbuterol (CLEN) (Table 1.1) are two common β -agonists illegal used by Thai farmers.

Table 1.1 Chemical structures with IUPAC name, molecular weight and pKa for

| | Ractopamine | Clenbuterol |
|--------------------|--|---|
| Chemical structure | HO OH H CH2 | |
| IUPAC Name | 4,3,2-hydroxy-2,4-hydroxyphenyl ethyl-amino-b <mark>uty</mark> l-phenol | 4-amino-3,5-dichloro-a-tert-butylamino- methylbenzyl alcohol |
| Molecular weight | 337. <mark>84</mark> | 277.18 |
| рКа | 9.4 | 9.6 |
| Ethn | | asuns |

RAC and CLEN.

1.2 Monolith

The term "monolith" is derived from the Greek "mono", meaning "single" and "lithos", meaning "rod". In chromatography, monolith or monolithic material is a polymeric continuous single rod of porous material (Nema et al., 2014).

The single-piece material or monolith was firstly proposed in the late 1960s and early 1970s (Xie et al., 2002). The material is a sponge-like structure consisting of two different pores, mesopores and macropores (Figure 1.2). The mesopores are small pores located on the skeleton of the monolith. The macropores are large through pores allowing the solution to flow through. These two pores are the main factors govern permeability and surface area of the material while chemistry of the material depends on the functional groups on the surface of the monolith. The porous monolith permits to operate at relatively high flow rate due to the low back pressure (low flow resistance). The high porosity and high surface area of the material are good characteristics for both extraction and separation applications.





Figure 1.2 SEM images of (a) monolithic material (b) macropore and (c) mesopore (Cabrera, 2004).

The monolith can be prepared from a mixture of functional monomer, crosslinking monomer, porogen and initiator *via* either thermal or photo polymerization. The role of each components is explained below.

1. Monomer or functional monomer is one of the important parameters for the preparation of monolith since the chemical properties of the monolith depend on the functional group of the monomers. Types of the monolith are therefore categorized into two types based on the monomers employed.

2. Crosslinking monomer (crosslinker) is monomer in monolithic synthesis for crosslinking of polymer chains. The mesopores and mechanical strength of the materials are related to the type and amount of the crosslinker. The popular crosslinking monomers, divinylbenzene, ethylene glycol dimethacrylate and N,N'-methylenebis (acrylamide) employed for the monolithic preparation are shown in Figure 1.3.



Divinylbenzene Ethylene glycol dimethacrylate N,N'-methylenebis (acrylamide)

Figure 1.3 Examples of crosslinking monomers for the preparation of monolith.

3. Porogen or porogenic solvent is a solvent employed to obtain the homogeneous polymerization solution. Type and ratio of porogen are usually optimized to adjust the pore size and porosity of the monolith. The solubility of the monomers is the main criteria for selecting the porogen.

4. Initiator is the compound used for starting or initiating the polymerization process. Type of initiator depends on the polymerization process or method. Azobisisobutyronitrile or AIBN is a popularly used initiator for thermal polymerization while N,N-didecyl-N-methylpoly (oxyethyl) ammonium propionate or DMPAP is typically used for photo polymerization.

1.2.1 Type of monolith

Monolith can be categorized into two types which are organic and inorganic monoliths. The types of monolith depend on the chemical properties or type of the monomers employed.

1.2.1.1 Organic polymer-based monoliths or polymer monoliths

Organic polymer-based monoliths or polymer monoliths have been prepared by *in situ* polymerization using organic monomers. The polymerization solutions mainly contain monomers, porogens, and an initiator. The polymerization reaction is initiated by decomposition of an initiator to form radicals causing nucleation of polymer and polymer growth (Wu and Thompson, 2006). SEM images of an organic polymer-based monolith illustrated in Figure 1.4.



Figure 1.4 SEM images of organic-based monolith prepared in capillary column (Svec, 2011).

Methacrylate based monolith is the most common organic polymer-based monolith used in chromatography. The polymerization reactions for a methacrylate based monolith synthesized from methacrylic acid (MAA) monomer and ethylene glycol dimethacrylate (EDMA) crosslinker with azobisisobutyronitrile (AIBN) initiator are shown in Figure 1.5.

(1) Formation of initiation radical (AIBN•)



(2) Formation of MAA radical (MAA·)



(3) Growing of MAA radical chain (MAA chain·)



Figure 1.5 Radical polymerization reaction of MAA-EDMA monolith using AIBN initiator (Ramelow and Pingili, 2010).



Figure 1.5 Radical polymerization reaction of MAA-EDMA monolith using AIBN initiator (Ramelow and Pingili, 2010) (continued).

Figure 1.6 shows examples of organic monomers reported for the organic polymer-based monolith including (1) hydrophilic monomers such as methacrylic acid, acrylamide, 2-acrylamido-2-methyl-1-propanesulfonic acid, glycidyl methacrylate, chloromethylstryrene, 2-vinyl-4,4-dimethylazlzctone, 4-acetoxystrylene, (2) hydrophobic monomers such as styrene, butyl methacrylate and (3) zwitterionic monomer (Xie et al., 2002)



Figure 1.6 Examples of organic monomers for the preparation of organic polymerbased monoliths or polymer monoliths.

The advantages of this type of monolith is it can tolerate extreme changes in pH, from 1-14 (Nema et al., 2014) and it is simply synthesized in one step. However, swelling problem by organic solvents could be found for this type of monolith.

1.2.1.2 Inorganic polymer-based monoliths

Inorganic polymer-based monoliths are typically synthesized from alkoxysilane by a sol-gel method (Nema et al., 2014). The sol-gel method consists of two main steps, hydrolysis and condensation reactions (Figure 1.7). The alkoxysilane reacts with water to obtain free reactive silanol group. The polymerization is then occurred by condensation of the alkoxysilane.

$$\begin{array}{c} OR_{1} \\ R_{4}O - Si - OR_{2} \\ OR_{3} \end{array} + H_{2}O \xrightarrow{Hydrolysis} \\ OR_{3} \\ OR_{3} \\ OR_{3} \end{array} + R_{2}OH \xrightarrow{OR_{1}} \\ P_{4}O - Si - OR_{2} + R_{4}O - Si - OH \\ OR_{3} \\ O$$

Figure 1.7 Hydrolysis and condensation reactions for synthesis of inorganic-based monolith (Nema et al., 2014).

Since most of the inorganic polymer-based monoliths are made from alkoxysilane, they are often called silica-based monoliths. Example of SEM images for this monolith is shown in Figure 1.8.



Figure 1.8 SEM images of inorganic-based monolith prepared in capillary column (Svec, 2011).

Inorganic-based monolith provides several advantages including high chromatographic separation efficiency, less swelling and good stability at extremely high temperatures (higher than 750°C) which is suitable to use as a stationary phase in gas chromatography. However, the limitation of this material is the narrow working pH range as the material is not stable at pH below 2 and above 8.

The monoliths have been widely used for chromatography such as stationary phase for liquid chromatography (Hussain et al., 2016; Hua-Liu et al., 2017; Gupta et al., 2016; Eeltink et al., 2017), ion-exchange chromatography (Allmaier et al., 2018) capillary electrochromatography (Xu et al., 2019) size exclusion chromatography (Huber et al., 2011).

In addition, the monolithic materials have been also developed for extraction by solid phase extraction (SPE) (Alwael et al., 2011; Xie et al., 2011; Du et al., 2014; Arabi et al., 2017; Fresco-Cala et al., 2018).



1.3 Solid phase extraction (SPE)

In some chemical analysis, more than 70% of the analysis time is spent for sample preparation step and only 10-20% for the actual measurement for sample analysis. Therefore, sample preparation is an important key effecting on both the accuracy and analysis time.

Traditionally, liquid-liquid extraction (LLE) is used for sample extraction in various types of analytes and samples to reduce the sample matrices and increase the analytes concentration. The LLE method is widely used due to the simple apparatus and procedures. However, low extraction efficiency was usually found. In addition, the method is considered as not environmentally friendly as large amount of organic solvent.

Solid phase extraction or SPE have been employed as an alternative extraction method to LLE method due to the high extraction efficiency with low solvent consumption. Comparison of SPE and LLE methods are shown in Table 1.2.

| Parameter Parameter | LLE method | SPE method |
|-----------------------------|------------|--------------|
| Sample/solvent consumptions | Large | Medium-less |
| Extraction time | Long | Medium-short |
| Extraction efficiency | Medium | High |
| Apparatus use | Simple | Complex |
| Easily automated | No | Yes |
| Cost | Low-medium | High |

Table 1.2Comparison of SPE and LLE methods for sample preparation.

1.3.1 Solid phase extraction mechanism

The extraction by SPE is based on the partitioning of the analytes between the liquid sample and the surface of the solid sorbent. When sample is loaded or flowed through the solid sorbent, analyte(s) can adsorb on the sorbent by several interactions such as hydrophobic, hydrophilic, columbic interaction and hydrogen bond. The interaction of the analyte(s) with the sorbent can be expressed in the term of distribution coefficient (K_D) defined below.

$$K_D = \frac{C_{sorbent}}{C_{sample}}$$

Where $C_{sorbent}$ is concentration of the analyte on the solid sorbent and C_{sample} is concentration of the analyte in sample solution.

1.3.2 Solid phase extraction procedure

To carry out the SPE, the procedure is based on four basic steps including (1) conditioning (2) loading (3) washing and (4) eluting. Schematic for basic SPE procedures are shown in Figure 1.9.



Figure 1.9 Solid phase extraction procedures.

(1) Conditioning

Before the extraction, the solid sorbent is conditioned with a suitable solvent(s) to activate the functional group at the surface of the solid sorbent before performing the extraction (Figure 1.10).



Figure 1.10 Activation of functional groups on the surface of the solid sorbent (modified from James, 1999).

(2) Loading

After conditioning step in which the sorbent is ready to interact with the analyte(s), sample solution is loaded or flowed through the solid sorbent. The analyte(s) are adsorbed on the active sites of the solid sorbent *via* various possible interactions such as hydrophobic, hydrophilic, coulombic interaction and hydrogen bond, depending on the functional groups of the compounds and the active sites of the sorbent. During this step, some of the sample matrices possibly also retain on the solid sorbent.



Figure 1.11 The adsorption of analyte on solid sorbent in the loading step.

(3) Washing

Since the sample matrices may also interact and retain on the surface of the sorbent, a washing solvent is required to remove the unwanted compounds before sample elution. An optimum washing solvent should be able to remove the matrices retained on the sorbent as much as possible without loss of the trapped analyte(s).

(4) Eluting

The analyte(s) is eventually desorbed from the sorbent by an eluting solvent. In order to increase concentration of the analyte(s), small volume of eluting solvent is employed. Reconstitution or re-dissolving step is usually performed to enhance the pre-concentration factor or when the eluting solvent is not compatible with the analytical method.

Typical SPE methods require much less solvent than used in LLE (5-20 mL/sample) (Shao et al., 2009; Xiu-Juan et al., 2013). In order to further reduce the chemicals and solvent consumption, the SPE was miniaturized in various devices and designs, such as capillary, the channels of micro-fluidic device, polypropylene tubing or in pipette tips (Alwael et al., 2011) SPE in pipette tips (Figure 1.12(b)) provides several advantages, including ease of use, low sample and solvent consumption and suitability for field or on-site analysis.



Figure 1.12 (a) SPE cartridges with a chamber and a vacuum pump (b) a commercial micro-pipette tip SPE.

Monolith is an interesting material for pipette tip-based micro-solid phase extraction (in-pipette tip μ -SPE) since it can be *in situ* prepared in the pipette tip with tailor-made chemical and physical properties. The material can be held in the tip without need of a frit. The comparisons of organic monolithic and classical particle based sorbents for SPE technique are summarized in Table 1.3.

 Table 1.3
 Comparison of organic monolithic and classical particle based sorbents for SPE.

| Parameter | Organic monolithic sorbent | Classical particle based sorbent |
|-------------------------------|-------------------------------|-------------------------------------|
| Synthesis or packed procedure | Simple | Complicated, time consuming |
| Functionality | Various | Limited |
| Porosity | High | Low |
| Mass transfer | Fast | Medium |
| Surface area | Medium-high | High |
| Capacity | Medium-high | High |
| pH range | Wide | Narrow-wide* |
| Back pressure | Low | High |
| Cost | Low | Medium-high |

* Depends on type of the sorbent.
1.4 High performance liquid chromatography (HPLC)

HPLC is a powerful modern separation technique based on two different phases, stationary phase and liquid mobile phase. The first chromatographic method was established in 1906s by M. S. Tswett for separating of pigments color in plant. In HPLC, the analytes are separated in a column consisting of extremely small particles of stationary phase to interact with the analytes. A solvent is applied by mean of high pressure pump to dissolve the analytes and elute them from the column. The analytes with different chemistry interact with the stationary phase differently and therefore migrate from the column with different speed. The separation is thus achieved.

1.4.1 Principle of the separation

The mechanism for liquid chromatography (LC) or HPLC is similar with that explained for the SPE (described in Section 1.3.1). The difference between SPE and LC is the separation in LC is performed under continuous flow of the mobile phase. When sample is introduced to the column, the analytes can distribute between two different phases, stationary phase (solid support) and mobile phase (liquid solvent). The affinity of the analyte with the stationary phase is expressed in terms of the distribution coefficient (K_D) which is the ratio of the analyte concentration in the stationary phase (C_{stationary phase}) to concentration of the analyte in the mobile phase (C_{mobile phase}).

$$K_D = \frac{C_{stationary \, phase}}{C_{mobile \, phase}}$$

Figure 1.13 shows a graphical picture for separation of a sample containing components A and B. Due to the higher interaction of the component A with the stationary phase, the component A moves slower and retains in the column longer than component B. As the separation time passes by, higher resolution is achieved (Figure 1.13(c)).



Figure 1.13 Schematic of the chromatographic separation of two analytes on a column.

1.4.2 Mode of LC separation

Mode of the separation depends on the separation mechanism or functional groups of the stationary phase and the analyte. Table 1.4 Shows five common LC separation modes.

Table 1.4Shows five common LC separation modes.

| Separation mode | Stationary phase | Type of analyte |
|--------------------|---|------------------------|
| Reversed phase | Hydrophobic materials such as alkyl chain bonded particle | Hydrophobic molecule |
| Normal phase | Hydrophilic materials such as silica or alumina | Hydrophilic molecule |
| Ion exchange | Ion-exchange resin | Ionic analyte |
| Ion paring | Hydrophobic materials such as alkyl chain bonded particle | Ionic analyte |
| Size exclusion | Porous beads | Large or macromolecule |

1.4.3 Instrumentation of HPLC

A HPLC system typically comprises of solvent reservoir (mobile phase), high pressure pump, an injector, column, detector and data acquisition, as shown in Figure 1.14.



Figure 1.14 Basic components of a high performance liquid chromatography system.

1.5 Research objectives

1. To develop a portable micro-extraction method based on monolithic solid phase extraction for simple and low cost extraction of ractopamine and clenbuterol.

2. To develop the accurate and reliable analytical method based on high performance liquid chromatography for determination of ractopamine and clenbuterol in animal urine and meat samples.



CHAPTER II

LITERATURE REVIEWS

Due to the illegal use of RAC and CLEN in livestock, many analytical methods have been developed to examine the amounts of RAC and CLEN in animal feed, animal urine and tissue. This chapter summarizes the extraction methods reported and analytical methods developed for RAC and CLEN in various types of samples.

2.1 Extraction methods for RAC and CLEN

Sample extraction is generally performed to decrease the sample matrix interference (sample clean up) and/or increase the analyte concentration (sample preconcentration) before the analysis. The extraction methods reported for RAC and CLEN are given in this section.

2.1.1 Solid phase extraction (SPE) SPE is widely used for both sample clean up and pre-concentration. The method provides high extraction efficiency with simple procedures. Several types of sorbent and designs for the extraction of RAC and CLEN were published.

2.1.1.1 Commercial SPE cartridge

SPE cartridges are the most common SPE commercially available. Various types of commercial SPE cartridges were employed for the extraction of β -agonists as shown in Table 2.1. For this method, the extraction time varied from 20-50 minutes with solvent consumption between 5-20 mL.

Table 2.1 Extraction methods using commercial SPE cartridges for sample pre-
treatment of β -agonists samples.

| Sorbent | Number of β-agonists | Sample | Extraction time (min) | Reference |
|--|-------------------------|---------------------------|-----------------------|---------------------|
| HLB and MCX cartridge | 16 | Liver, kidney, meat | >40 | (Shao et al., 2009) |
| C ₁₈ SPE cartridge | 5 | Pig feed, urine, liver | >20 | (Wang et al., 2010) |
| MCX cartridge | 12 | Animal feed | >50 | (Wang et al., 2013) |
| MCX and C ₁₈ SPE cartridge | 22 | Muscle, liver | >30 | (Guo et al., 2018) |

MCX=mixed cation exchange, HLB=hydrophilic lipophilic balance

^{้วักย}าลัยเทคโนโลยีส์^จ

2.1.1.2 Molecularly imprinted polymer (MIP)

Several types of MIP materials were also synthesized for selective extraction by SPE. The MIPs for β -agonists were reported as followed.

Xu et al. (2010) proposed MIP coated stir bar for simple and fast extraction. The MIP was synthesized using RAC as the template for extraction of RAC and its analogues (CLEN, isoxsuprine and fenoterol). The developed MIP-coated stir bar demonstrated higher selectivity and capacity (2.4 to 3.3 times) than the non-molecularly imprinted polymer (NIP)-coated stir bar. The developed MIP coated stir bar could be reused at least 40 times with no loss of extraction performance (Xu et al., 2010).

Yan et al. (2013) developed ionic liquid modified dummy molecularly imprinted microspheres for the extraction of CLEN and clorprenaline in urine samples. The 1-allyl-3-ethlyimidazolium bromide ionic liquid was employed as a co-functional monomer with phenylephrine as a dummy template for specific extraction of the two analytes. The ionic liquid did not provide only good adsorption capacity and selectivity but also preventing the template leakage during the extraction (Yan et al., 2013)

Wang et al. (2015) proposed a novel molecularly imprinted polymer for selective extraction of five β -agonists consisting of CLEN, RAC, brombuterol, bromchlorbuterol and clorprenaline in pork tissue samples. Phenylethanolamine A as the dummy template and *p*-vinylbenzoic acid as the functional monomer were polymerized *via* thermal polymerization. The results showed that the MIP was more selective to the five β -agonists than NIP. The extraction capacities obtained from the MIP were 2.7 to 3.4 times higher than those obtained from the NIP (Wang et al., 2015).

And Qiu et al. (2016) fabricated ractopamine MIP nanotube membrane on anodic alumina oxide nanopore surface (AAO@MIP). The MIP nanotube membranes

was synthesized by using RAC as the template and MAA as the functional monomer by atom transfer radical polymerization. The MIP nanotube membranes provided specific extraction of RAC and its analogues including CLEN, epinephrine, terbutaline and dopamine. The AAO@MIP significantly improved the adsorption capacity (Qiu et al, 2016).

Although, the MIP sorbent provided higher extraction selectivity compared with the NIP sorbent, the synthesis requires multi-preparation step with relatively long preparation time. In addition, the use of template can increase the cost of analysis.

2.1.2 Dispersive solid phase extraction

Mastrianni et al. (2018) proposed the determination of ten β -agonists including RAC and CLEN in pork meat samples. The extraction method was performed by using a commercial dispersive pipette extraction (from DPX Technologies) before analysis by LC-MS/MS. Loose resin was employed as a sorbent. The extraction time was 20 min/sample (Mastrianni et al. 2018).

2.1.3 Liquid liquid extraction (LLE)

The classical extraction LLE was employed as a sample pre-treatment method for analysis of eight β -agonists in pork samples by an electrochemical sensor (Lin et al., 2013) and for rapid analysis of RAC, CLEN and salbutamol in urine samples using surface-enhance Raman spectroscopy (Zhai et al., 2012). To extract the analytes from sample matrices, 40-100 mL ethyl acetate was used as the extractant. The average extraction time was 50 min/sample. The method was simple but consumed large amount of solvent.

2.2 Analytical methods for determination of RAC and CLEN

Various analytical methods have been reported for determination of β -agonists such as HPLC, capillary electrophoresis, electrochemical sensors, Raman spectroscopy and colorimetric methods.

2.2.1 High performance liquid chromatography-ultraviolet detection (HPLC-UV)

HPLC-UV method is one of the most common analytical techniques employed for analysis of organic compounds including RAC and CLEN. Most of the methods were carried out by reversed-phase HPLC using commercial packed-based C₁₈ column and aqueous-organic solvent as the mobile phase. Although the method could separate the analytes from the sample matrices, sample pre-treatment for clean up and pre-concentration is still needed. The method is therefore coupled with various types of sample preparation techniques especially SPE. The LOD of the HPLC-UV coupled offline with SPE was in the range of ppt-ppb with total analysis time between 30-40 min/sample. The main advantages of this technique are good selectivity, simple operation and relatively low operation cost. The HPLC-UV methods are shown in Table 2.2.

| Column | Mobile phase | LOD (ppb) | Sample pre- treatment | Extraction /analysis time (min) | Reference |
|-----------------|----------------------|--------------|--------------------------|---------------------------------------|---------------|
| Agilent | 64:36 (v/v) | < 0.05 | SPE | 30/18 | (Yan et al., |
| C ₁₈ | ACN, 0.1% formic | | | | 2016) |
| | acid and 50 mM | | | | |
| | ammonium acetate | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| R Stech | 25:75 (v:v) | 0.07 | SPE | >30/6 | (Liu et al., |
| C ₁₈ | Water:MeOH | µg/kg | | | 2011) |
| | containing 0.25% | | | | |
| | trifluoroacetic acid | | | | |
| | pH 2.8 | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| Beta basic | MeOH:50 mM | -0.5 | SPE | 30/18 | (Blomgren |
| C ₁₈ | ammonium | | | | et al., 2002) |
| | phosphate buffer | | | | |
| | pH 2 | | | | |
| | (gradient elution) | | | 10 | |
| | 575 | | | 1 | |
| Shimadzu | 40:60 (v:v) | 3.0 | SPE | >20/10 | (Wei et al., |
| C ₁₈ | MeOH:0.2% | | UIC. | | 2014) |
| | formic acid pH 4 | | | | |

Table 2.2 The HPLC-UV methods for determination of β -agonists.

2.2.2 High performance liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry detection (HPLC-MS/MS)

A highly selective MS/MS detection coupled with HPLC was also developed for the analysis of β -agonists in complex samples. The HPLC-MS/MS was carried out on reverse phase C₁₈ column with the mobile phase consisted of organic solvent (acetonitrile or methanol) and 0.1% formic acid using gradient elution. Wang et al. (2015) proposed the method to separate five β -agonists (CLEN, RAC, brombuterol, bromchlorbuterol and clorphenaline) (Wang et al., 2015). Mastrianni et al. (2018) also developed the HPLC-MS/MS for the analysis of ten β -agonists in pork tissue (Mastrianni et al., 2018). Although the method showed excellent selectivity and sensitivity with fast separation, this technique required not only special technical skills for the operation but also high price instruments.

2.2.3 Capillary electrophoresis (CE)

Wang et al. (2010) successfully developed a CE-UV method for determination of five β -agonists, CLEN, RAC, metoprolol, isoxsuprine and salbutamol in pig feed, urine and liver. Under the optimum condition, the target analytes could be separated in a bare fused silica using H₃PO₃-NaB₄O₇ buffer pH 9.0 as background electrolyte in 15 min. The method was simple, fast and cheap. Another advantage is the method consumed very low amount of sample and solvents in micro-liter and milliliter, respectively. However, the method has drawbacks in terms of low sample loading capacity and low sensitivity. The special operational skills are also needed (Wang et al., 2010).

2.2.4 Raman spectroscopy

Zhai et al. (2012) developed a method based on Raman spectroscopy for the analysis of three β -agonists, RAC, CLEN and salbutamol in swine urine samples. Liquid liquid extraction method was used to extract the target analytes before Raman analyzes. The LOD in the range of 2-100 ppb was observed with the analysis time of 30 min (Zhai et al., 2012).

2.2.5 Colorimetric method

He et al. (2011) reported colorimetric detection of thirteen β -agonists by using gold nanoparticles. The colorimetric method is based on the color changing of the gold nanoparticles. When gold nanoparticles are induced by the β -agonists, aggregation of gold nanoparticles caused color change from red to blue. However, the method could not be directly applied to real samples due to the low sensitivity and selectivity of the method (He et al., 2011).

> ะ รัววักยาลัยเทคโนโลยีสุรุบา

CHAPTER III

MATERIALS AND METHODS

This chapter provides the information for materials and methods employed in this research. The details for the preparation of chemical and sample solutions are also given. The experiments for the extraction, HPLC method and the analysis in real samples as well as the criteria for evaluation of method performances are fully explained.

3.1 Reagents and chemicals

Reagents and chemicals used are as followed:

| Reagent and chemical | Grade | Supplier |
|---|--------------|---------------------|
| Acetonitrile (ACN) | Analytical S | Sigma-Aldrich (USA) |
| Azobisisobutylronitrile (AIBN) | Analytical | Sigma-Aldrich (USA) |
| Clenbuterol hydrochloride (CLEN) | Analytical | Sigma-Aldrich (USA) |
| Decanol | Analytical | Sigma-Aldrich (USA) |
| Di-sodium hydrogen phosphate (Na ₂ HPO ₄) | Analytical | Carlo Erba (Italy) |
| Ethylene glycol dimethacrylate (EDMA) | Analytical | Sigma-Aldrich (USA) |

| Reagent and chemical | Grade | Supplier | | |
|--|------------|---------------------|--|--|
| Glacial acetic acid | Analytical | Sigma-Aldrich (USA) | | |
| Potassium dihydrogen phosphate (KH ₂ PO ₄) | Analytical | Carlo Erba (Italy) | | |
| Ractopamine hydrochloride (RAC) | Analytical | Sigma-Aldrich (USA) | | |
| Sodium hydroxide (NaOH) | Analytical | Sigma-Aldrich (USA) | | |
| Toluene | Analytical | Sigma-Aldrich (USA) | | |
| Triethylamine (TEA) | Analytical | Sigma-Aldrich (USA) | | |
| Zinc sulphate (ZnSO ₄) | Analytical | Sigma-Aldrich (USA) | | |
| Methacrylic acid (MAA) | Analytical | Sigma-Aldrich (USA) | | |
| Methanol (MeOH) | Analytical | Sigma-Aldrich (USA) | | |
| Phosphoric acid (H ₃ PO ₄) | Analytical | Carlo Erba (Italy) | | |
| Potassium chloride (KCl) | Analytical | Sigma-Aldrich (USA) | | |
| ้ ^{อุก} ยาลัยเทคโนโลยีส์ ⁵ ั | | | | |

Table 3.1List of reagents and chemicals (Continued).

3.2 Instrumentations

The details for the apparatus and equipments used are listed in the table below.

Table 3.2List of instruments and apparatus.

| Instrument | Model | Company |
|---|-------------------------|-----------------------------|
| Analytical Balance | AB 104-S | Metter Toledo (Thailand) |
| Centrifuge | CP80WX | Hitachi (Japan) |
| Fourier-transform infrared spectrometer (FT-IR) | TENSOR 27-Hyperion | Burker (Germany) |
| High performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) | HP 1100 | Agilent (USA) |
| Hot air oven | ULE600 | Memmert (Germany) |
| SB C ₈ column | 4.6 mm×75 mm, 3.5 μm | Agilent (USA) |
| pH meter | 827 pH Lab | Metrohm (Switzerland) |
| Polypropylene pipette tip | 1,000 µL | Axygen (USA) |
| Scanning electron microscope (SEM) | S-3400N | Hitachi (Japan) |
| T-way valve | | Upchurch (USA) |
| Tygon tube | าัยเทคโน <u>โลยส</u> ุร | Upchurch (USA) |

3.3 Chemical preparation

3.3.1 Standard solutions of RAC and CLEN

Stock standard RAC and CLEN solutions at the concentration of 500 mg L⁻¹ were prepared by dissolving 0.0050 g of the pure standards and making up to 10.00 mL with DI water in volumetric flasks. To construct the calibration curves, series of working standard solutions were daily prepared by diluting the stock solutions with DI water to obtain the desired concentration in the range of 25-5,000 μ g L⁻¹ for RAC and 5-10,000 μ g L⁻¹ for CLEN. The solutions were directly loaded through the in-pipette tip monolithic μ -SPE for extraction before the analysis by HPLC method. For HPLC measurement with no extraction, the solutions were filtered through 0.22 μ m nylon syringe filter before injecting into the HPLC system.

3.3.2 20 mM Acetate buffer pH 4.0 and 5.0

116 μ L Glacial acetic acid was diluted with ~80 mL of DI water. The pH was adjusted to pH 4.0 or 5.0 by adding small amount of 0.1 M NaOH. The solution was then made up to 100.00 mL in a volumetric flask with DI water.

3.3.3 20 mM Phosphate buffer pH 2.0, 6.0, 7.0 and 9.0

Phosphate buffers pH 2.0, 6.0, 7.0 and 9.0 were prepared by dissolving 123 μ L H₃PO₄, 0.2772 g KH₂PO₄ and 0.2839 g Na₂HPO₄ in ~80 mL DI water, respectively. Small volume of 0.1 M NaOH was added into the solutions to adjust the pH before making up to 100.00 mL in volumetric flasks.

3.3.4 Mobile phases for HPLC analysis

Mobile phases of 25% (v/v) of acetonitrile in aqueous buffer at different pH were investigated to find an optimum mobile phase composition for the separation of RAC and CLEN. The mobile phases were prepared by pipetting 25.00 mL of acetonitrile into volumetric flasks and made up to 100.00 mL with the buffer solutions (20 mM acetate buffer pH 4.0, 5.0 or 20 mM phosphate buffer pH 6.0). To improve the peak shape, 280 μ L of TEA additive was added into 25% (v/v) acetonitrile in 20 mM acetate buffer pH 4.0. The mobile phases were filtered through 0.2 μ m cellulose membrane before use.

3.3.5 50 mM Zinc sulphate

Zinc sulphate solution was prepared by dissolving 0.8050 g of ZnSO₄ in DI water to the final volume of 100.00 mL. The solution was used to precipitate protein in meat samples before the extraction.

3.3.6 Polymerization solution for synthesis of monolithic sorbent

The polymerization composition was modified from our previous work (Chaloemsuwiwattanakan et al., 2016). The polymerization solution contained MAA and EDMA monomers, porogenic solvents of toluene and 1-decanol and AIBN initiator. The ratio of monomers to porogenic solvents was varied from 15:85 to 23:77 as shown in Table 3.3.

| Monomer:Porogen | Monor | ner (g) | Porog | gen (g) | Initiator |
|-----------------|--------|---------|---------|-----------|-----------|
| (g:g) | MAA | EDMA | Toluene | 1-Decanol | (g) |
| 15:85 | 0.0150 | 0.1350 | 0.1020 | 0.7480 | 0.0015 |
| 18:82 | 0.0180 | 0.1680 | 0.0984 | 0.7216 | 0.0018 |
| 21:79 | 0.0210 | 0.1890 | 0.0948 | 0.6952 | 0.0021 |
| 23:77 | 0.0230 | 0.2070 | 0.0924 | 0.6776 | 0.0023 |

Table 3.3 Weight of monomers, porogens and initiator for preparation of the monolith in pipette tip.

3.4 HPLC-UV experiment

Reversed-phase chromatographic separation of RAC and CLEN was performed on Zorbax SB-C₈ column (4.6 mm×75 mm, 3.5 μ m, Agilent, USA) connected with 20 μ L sample loop. The column was equilibrated with the mobile phase for ~30 min or until stable baseline was observed. The separation was carried out at the flow rate of 0.7 mL min⁻¹ and detection wavelength at 210 nm.

3.5 Preparation of monolith in pipette tip

Monolithic sorbent was *in situ* synthesized inside auto-pipette tip made from polypropylene *via* thermal polymerization method. The tips were washed with 300 μ L MeOH and dried before use. The cleaned pipette tip was sealed with Parafilm[®] and Scotch[®] tape at the narrow end before filling in with 60 μ L of the homogenous polymerization solution prepared in Section 3.3.6. The top of tip was then sealed with Parafilm[®] and Scotch[®] tape before keeping in an oven at certain temperatures for thermal polymerization (see Figure 3.1). Polymerization temperature and time were varied to find the optimum synthesized condition. The observed monolith was washed

with $300 \,\mu\text{L}$ MeOH to remove the unpolymerized reagents. The in-pipette tip monolith was stored at room temperature until use.



Figure 3.1 Synthesis of in-pipette tip monolith.

3.6 Monolith characterization

The synthesized monolith in pipette tips were characterized by FT-IR and SEM techniques. To investigate the functional group of the monolithic sorbent, the monolith was crushed into powder before characterization by FT-IR. For SEM characterization, the monolith in-pipette tip was cut around 4 mm from narrow end and coated with gold.

3.7 In-pipette tip monolithic µ-SPE devices

^າຍາລັຍເກຄໂ

The in-pipette tip monolith can be used with both auto-micropipette device (Figure 3.2(a)) and T-way valve (Figure 3.2(b)). In this work, the T-way device was selected as it was easier to operate, more convenient to change the loading solvents and the extraction time was shorter. To assemble the in-pipette tip monolith with T-way valve, the in-pipette tip monolith was cut from narrow end around 1.5 cm and connected with Tygon tube. To carry out the extraction, the solutions were accurately pipetted into

the syringe before manual loading. Inlet 1 was used for loading of samples and washing solvent, while eluting solvent was loaded at inlet 2.



Figure 3.2 In-pipette tip monolithic µ-SPE used with (a) auto-micropipette device (b) T-way valve device.

3.8 Optimization of in-pipette tip monolithic µ-SPE condition

 $300 \ \mu$ L MeOH was loaded through the sorbent to activate the nonpolar functional groups on the surface of the monolithic sorbent followed by 50 μ L of DI water. The analyte solutions were then loaded into the tips before washing and eluting solvents. Important parameters for washing and eluting solvent were investigated such as type and volume of solvents. The eluates were directly subjected to the HPLC-UV system described in Section 3.4.



3.9 Sample pre-treatment

Meat samples (pork and beef) were purchased from three local markets in Nakhon Ratchasima, Thailand. For meat samples, protein matrix was removed according to our method reported previously (Chaloemsuwiwattanakan, et al., 2016). The samples pooled were manually cut into small pieces. Accurate weight about 0.2 g of homogeneous sample was taken into centrifuge tube and mixed with 10.00 mL of 50 mM ZnSO₄. The sample solution was vortexed and centrifuged at 3500 rpm for 15 min to precipitate protein. The supernatant was collected and filtered through 0.22 µm nylon syringe filters.

Animal urine samples (swine and cattle) were obtained from three local farms in Nakhon Ratchasima, Thailand. 1.00 mL of pooled urine samples were pipetted into the volumetric flasks and made up to 10.00 mL with DI water. The samples were filtered through 0.22 μ m nylon syringe filters. The pre-treated samples were extracted by the method explained in section 3.8.

3.10 Analytical method performances

3.10.1 Repeatability of the in-pipette tip monolithic µ-SPE

To measure the reliability of the preparation method for the monolith in pipette tip. Triplicate extraction of a standard mixture containing 150 μ g L⁻¹ RAC and 100 μ g L⁻¹ CLEN were performed at the optimum condition by using the in-pipette tip monoliths synthesized from the same batch (tip-to-tip) and between batches (batch-tobatch). The repeatability in terms of %RSD was calculated from peak areas obtained from HPLC analysis of the two compounds.

3.10.2 Reusability of the in-pipette tip monolithic µ-SPE

To evaluate the robustness or reusability of the in-pipette tip monolithic μ -SPE, extraction of a standard solution containing 150 µg L⁻¹ of RAC and 100 µg L⁻¹ of CLEN at the optimum condition, was repeatedly carried out for 10 times (n=3 tips). The results were reported in terms of %RSD for peak areas of the two analytes.

3.10.3 Calibration curve (linearity) and breakthrough study

Breakthrough or capacity and linearity of the fabricated in-pipette tip monolithic μ -SPE monolith were investigated by increasing the concentration of the mixture standard solutions. The concentration ranges for RAC and CLEN were 25-5,000 µg L⁻¹ and 5-10,000 µg L⁻¹, respectively. The mixed standard solutions were extracted at the optimum extraction conditions and analyzed by the developed HPLC method (Section 3.4). The peak areas for the two analytes were measured and plotted against the concentrations. The breakthrough or capacity is the maximum amount of the analytes that can be adsorbed on the sorbent. The regression coefficient (r^2) was used to evaluate the linearity of the calibration curves.

3.10.4 Limit of detection (LOD) and limit of quantification (LOQ)

A low concentration of a mixed standard containing $12.5 \ \mu g \ L^{-1}$ for RAC and 2.5 $\ \mu g \ L^{-1}$ for CLEN was extracted using the in-pipette tip monolithic $\ \mu$ -SPE and analyzed by the HPLC method to find the LOD and LOQ of the method based on the definitions of signal-to-noise (S/N) ratios of 3 and 10, respectively. The peak area was used as the signal while noise was measure from baseline drift in the HPLC chromatograms.

3.10.5 Precision

The precision for analysis of RAC and CLEN by our developed inpipette tip monolithic μ -SPE-HPLC method within the day and between days were investigated. Triplicate analysis of spiked samples containing RAC and CLEN at 1000 μ g L⁻¹ was performed within a day and in three days. The peak areas were used to calculate %RSD for intra-day precision and inter-day precision.

3.10.6 Stability

In order to study the stability of the in-pipette tip monolithic μ -SPEs, the tips were dried and stored at room temperature for several months. To test the tip performance after long-term storage, the tips were used for extraction using the optimum conditions. The extraction results were compared with those obtained from newly prepared in-pipette tip monolithic μ -SPE.

3.10.7 Accuracy

Accuracy of the developed method was evaluated in terms of % recovery. The samples were spiked with standard RAC and CLEN before extraction and HPLC analysis. The analysis results from non-spiked and spiked samples were used for calculating the %recovery by the following equation.

$$\% \text{Recovery} = \frac{C_{\text{spiked sample}} - C_{\text{non-spiked sample}}}{C_{\text{standard added}}} \times 100$$

Where $C_{spiked sample}$ is the concentration of analyte found in spiked sample; $C_{non-spiked sample}$ is the concentration of analyte found in non-spiked sample; $C_{standard added}$ is the concentration of analyte added.

To examine the accuracy of the analysis in meat and urine samples. The samples were spiked by standard solutions of 10 mg L⁻¹ RAC and 10 mg L⁻¹ CLEN. Two levels of spiked concentration investigated were 50 μ g L⁻¹ and 1,000 μ g L⁻¹. For meat samples, 0.2000 g of samples were weighted into 50 mL centrifuge tubes and added with 50 μ L of the standard solutions. Another set of the samples were spiked with 1,000 μ L of the standard solutions. 10.00 mL of 50 mM ZnSO₄ was added into the samples for protein precipitation. The samples were then vortexed and centrifuged at 3500 rpm for 15 min. The supernatants were collected and filtered through 0.22 μ m nylon syringe filters.

For urine samples, 1.00 mL of pooled urine samples (swine and cattle) were pipetted into 10 mL volumetric flasks and spiked with 50 μ L of the RAC and CLEN standard solutions. Another set of the samples were added with 1,000 μ L of the

standard solutions. The samples were made up to final volume with DI water. The samples were filtered through 0.22 μ m nylon syringe filters.

To perform the analysis, the pre-treated samples were extracted by the method explained in section 3.8. and analyzed by HPLC method summarized in 3.4.

3.10.8 Pre-concentration factor (P.F.) and extraction efficiency (E.E.)

P.F. and E.E. were defined as followed:

Pre-concentration factor (P.F.)

P.F. = $\frac{\text{The analyte concentration after extraction } (C_2)}{\text{The analyte concentration in the sample before extraction } (C_1)}$

$$P.F = \frac{C_2}{C_1}$$

Extraction efficiency (E.E.)

 $E.F. = \frac{Mole of the analyte in the sample loaded}{Mole of the analyte in the extractant}$

$$E.E = \frac{C_2 V_2}{C_1 V_1} \times 100$$

where V_1 is sample loading volume (mL); V_2 is eluting solvent volume (mL); C_1 is analyte concentration before extraction (µg L⁻¹) and C_2 is analyte concentration after extraction (µg L⁻¹).

CHAPTER IV

RESULTS AND DISCUSSIONS

In this chapter, the results for method development for analysis of two important β -agonists, RAC and CLEN are shown. The method was based on micro-extraction using lab-made in-pipette tip monolithic micro-solid phase extraction off-line coupled with high performance liquid chromatography. The results for the monolith in tip fabrication, characterization and analytical method development and performances are shown and discussed. The potential of our method for the analysis RAC and CLEN in real samples are also demonstrated.

4.1 Development of HPLC method

The HPLC-UV method was developed for the separation of RAC and CLEN after extraction by the fabricated in-pipette tip monolithic μ -SPE. Reversed-phase chromatographic separation was carried out on a silica-based C₈ column. The mobile phase of 25% (v/v) ACN in aqueous buffer was studied. The effect of mobile phase pH at 4.0, 5.0 and 6.0 and addition of TEA additive, were investigated. The results in Figure 4.1 shows that at the lower pH of 4.0 and 5.0 (Figure 4.1(a) and (b)), RAC and CLEN came out from the column faster. This could be explained that the secondary amine of RAC and CLEN could be fully protonated resulting in less interaction with

10

the nonpolar column. TEA was also added to the mobile phase to improve the peak shape by reducing peak tailing for CLEN. The mobile phase of 25% (v/v) ACN in 20 mM acetate buffer pH 4.0 containing 2 mM TEA was thus selected for further investigation.



Figure 4.1 Chromatograms of standard mixture containing 5 mg L⁻¹ RAC and 5 mg L⁻¹ CLEN. Separation condition; column C₈, mobile phase of 25% (v/v) ACN in 20 mM acetate buffer pH (a) 4.0 (b) 5.0 (c) 6.0 and (d) 4.0 containing 2 mM TEA, injection volume of 20 μ L, flow rate of 0.7 mL min⁻¹ and detection wavelength of 210 nm.

4.2 Synthesis and characterization of in-pipette tip monolith

Sample extraction is usually required for analysis of high matrix containing sample such as biological, environmental and food samples. The solid phase extraction (SPE) was selected in this work as high extraction performance can be achieved with simple apparatus and procedures. In this thesis, the SPE was synthesized from a porous monolithic material and miniaturized in auto-micro pipette tip. The synthesis of MAA and EDMA co-polymer was carried out in auto-pipette tip via thermal polymerization as explained in Section 3.5. The chemistry of the monolithic material depends on type of monomers while morphology such as skeleton and porosity, depends on type and amount of the porogenic solvent (porogen). Co-polymer of polar MAA and non-polar EDMA was selected as it is stable at the extraction condition, simply prepared and polarity-tunable. Two important parameters, polymerization temperature and amount of porogen were investigated. The temperature was varied from 60°C to 75°C. As expected, the time to complete the polymerization decreased with increasing of polymerization temperature due to the increasing of polymerization rate. Polymerization time were reduced from 4 hr to 1 hr and 10 min by increasing the temperature from 60°C to 75°C (data are shown in APPENDIX A). However, at temperature higher than 75°C, melting of the Parafilm[®] and Scotch[®] tape was observed. Therefore, the temperature of 75°C was an optimum temperature for synthesis of the monolithic sorbent in pipette tip.

For extraction, the sorbent should provide high surface area with good permeability (flow through ability of the solution) so that the high extraction efficiency with high speed can be achieved. In order to adjust the porosity of the monolithic sorbent, the ratios of monomers to porogens in the polymerization solution were varied from 15:85 to 23:77. It was found that the composition did not only affect the permeability (Table 4.1) but also attachment of the material on the surface of the pipette tips. The high amount of porogen at 85% caused gel-like monolith structure and dropping of the monolith from the end of the tip as also reported previously (Zhang and Chen, 2013). The dropping of monolith could be eliminated by increasing monomer ratio from 18% to 23%. Good morphology and well attachment of the monolith in the tip was observed with success rate for the preparation of 95%. Another important key for the preparation is the cleanliness of the inner wall of the pipette tips before processing the polymerization. Without proper tip cleaning, the preparation success rate could be reduced. The SEM images in Figure 4.2 show the monolith formed inside the tip with good wall attachment. By compromising the surface area and extraction time, the composition of monomers to porogens of 18:82 was selected for further investigation.

 Table 4.1
 The permeability and preparation success rate with various ratio of monomers to porogens.

| Ratio of monomer:porogen (g:g) | Permeability* | Preparation success rate ** |
|--------------------------------------|---------------|--------------------------------|
| 15:85 | High | 30% |
| 18:82 | Medium | 95% |
| 21:79 | Less | 95% |
| 23:77 | Less | 95% |

* Tested by flowing a solution of MeOH through the synthesized materials.

** Percent of monolith formed with good morphology and well retaining in the tips (n = 20).



Figure 4.2 SEM images of the representative in-pipette tip monolith (a) cross section of monolith prepared from 18:82 monomer:porogen, polymerization at 75°C for 1 hr and 10 min, (b) image magnification of 300x and 50000x and (c) attachment of the monolith with the inner surface of the pipette tip. FT-IR was used to characterize the functional groups of the MAA-EDMA monolithic material synthesized in pipette tip. The FT-IR spectrum in Figure 4.3 shows the peaks at around 1146 cm⁻¹ from C-O stretching, 1723 cm⁻¹ from C=O stretching, 2800-2900 cm⁻¹ from C-H stretching and 3567 cm⁻¹ from O-H stretching. The results were similar with these reported by Jin et al. (Jin et al., 2013).



Figure 4.3 FT-IR spectrum of MAA-EDMA monolith synthesized in pipette tip.

The in-pipette tip monolithic μ -SPE obtained from the optimum condition, are shown in Figure 4.4.



4.3 Optimization for in-pipette tip monolithic µ-SPE

To perform the extraction, the pipette tip was connected with T-way valve and syringes as described in Section 3.7 (Figure 3.2(b)). Extraction procedure for in-pipette tip monolithic μ -SPE consisted of four important steps, conditioning, loading, washing, and eluting.



Before extraction, the monolithic sorbent was conditioned with methanol to activate functional groups on the surface of the monolithic sorbent then washed with water to remove the conditioning MeOH solvent before sample loading. The washing step is usually required to remove the unwanted compounds that could also adsorb on the sorbent before eluting of the trapped analytes from the sorbent. To obtain the good extraction performance, washing and eluting solvents were investigated.

4.3.1 Washing solvent

During sample loading step, some matrices in the sample can also adsorb on the surface of the sorbent. The matrices weakly trapped can be removed from the sorbent by a suitable solvent called washing solvent. The washing solvent can help to reduce the matrices interfering and contamination on the HPLC system. Basically, the washing solvent should be able to remove the matrices which possibly retain on the monolithic sorbent without loss of the trapped analytes. As the main component of the monolithic sorbent is EDMA, the interaction is like in reversed-phase chromatography. Organic solvent of ACN was hence selected as the washing solvent additive for reducing the interaction between the compounds and the sorbent. Mixtures of ACN and water from 10% to 25% (v/v) ACN, 800 μ L were examined and compared with the control washing solvent (0% ACN, water). After washing, the trapped standard RAC and CLEN were eluted with 150 μ L of 30% (v/v) ACN in 200 mM acetate buffer pH 4.0. The eluates were subjected into the HPLC system. The HPLC results showed that only 10% ACN was adequate to elute the adsorbed matrices.

In addition, ACN concentration higher than 15% significantly could desorb the relatively polar RAC from the sorbent (Figure 4.5). Washing solvent of 10% ACN, 800 μ L was thus selected as the optimum washing solvent.



Figure 4.5 Effect of ACN concentration in washing solvent on signals obtained from spiked urine samples containing 1 mg L⁻¹ RAC and 1 mg L⁻¹ CLEN. Extraction conditions; 300 μ L conditioning solvent of MeOH and 50 μ L water, 800 μ L washing solvent volume, 2.00 mL sample loading, 150 μ L eluting solvent (30% (v/v) ACN in 200 mM acetate buffer pH 4.0). Separation condition; C₈ column, mobile phase of 25% (v/v) ACN in 20 mM acetate buffer pH 4.0 containing 2 mM triethylamine, injection of 20 μ L, flow rate of 0.7 mL min⁻¹ and detection wavelength of 210 nm.

4.3.2 Eluting solvent

In this work, the eluate was directly subjected into the HPLC system. The eluting solvent is therefore important for both extraction efficiency and preconcentration factor. To obtain the high P.F., the eluting solvent should completely desorb the trapped analytes with minimum volume.

Since the samples were loaded through the monolith at the pH around 6 or 7 (aqueous environment without pH adjustment), RAC and CLEN could interact on the sorbent surface *via* both hydrophobic interaction with the main hydrophobic skeleton of the monolithic sorbent and hydrophilic interactions due to H-bonding/coulombic interaction with the carboxylate groups on the surface of the monolith as shown in Figure 4.6.



Figure 4.6 Predicted interaction between the analytes and MAA-EDMA monolithic sorbent in pipette tip.
To find an optimum eluting solvent, several parameters including effect of buffer pH, organic solvent concentration, type of buffer, buffer concentration and salt additive, and volume of the eluting solvent were investigated.

The first examined parameter was the effect of buffer pH 30% (v/v) ACN in 20 mM buffer pH 2.0, 4.0, 7.0 and 9.0 were investigated. The recovery from HPLC analysis of the two analytes in Figure 4.7 shows that the efficient elution could be achieved from acidic solutions since both the carboxylate groups and the secondary amine groups were fully protonated. The interactions between the analytes and the sorbent were thus reduced. The adsorbed RAC and CLEN were therefore released from the material. From this study, the eluting pH of 4.0 was selected as the pH of 2.0 can reduce the life time of the silica-based HPLC column.



Figure 4.7 Effect of pH in the eluting solvent on extraction of 1 mg L⁻¹ RAC and 1 mg L⁻¹ CLEN in spiked urine samples. Other conditions are in Figure 4.5. Condition; 800 μL washing solvent of 10%(v/v) ACN in water.

The amount of ACN in 20 mM acetate buffer pH 4.0 was also varied from 30 to 50% (v/v). It was found that the concentration of ACN in the studied range provided similar elution performance (Figure 4.8). However, 30% (v/v) ACN in 20 mM acetate buffer pH 4.0 was selected due to the better peak shape (sharper peak).



Figure 4.8 Effect of ACN concentration in the eluting solvent of ACN in 20 mM acetate buffer pH 4.0 on extraction of 1 mg L⁻¹ RAC and 1 mg L⁻¹ CLEN in spiked urine samples. The conditions are as described in Figure 4.7.

Although the high extraction efficiency was achieved for CLEN, the elution of RAC was not satisfactory (Figure 4.8). To improve the elution efficiency for RAC, type and concentration of buffer and salt additive were investigated. The results in Figure 4.9 demonstrated that acetate buffer provided much higher extraction recovery compared with that obtained from phosphate buffer (Figure 4.9(a) and (b)). In addition, significant improvement was observed from increasing the acetate buffer concentration from 20 mM to 200 mM (Figure 4.9(b) and (d)). The addition of KCl only slightly improved the RAC extraction (Figure 4.9(b) and (c)). The eluting volume of 150 μ L was found to be minimum volume required for complete elution of RAC and CLEN.



Figure 4.9 Effect of type of buffer, buffer concentration and salt additive in the eluting solvent on extraction of 1 mg L⁻¹ RAC in spiked urine samples. The conditions as described in Figure 4.7.

The optimum condition for the extraction of RAC and CLEN using the inpipette tip monolithic μ -SPE is summarized below.

Table 4.2 Optimum condition for RAC and CLEN pipette tip monolithic µ-SPE.

| Step | Solvent | Volume |
|--------------|---|---------|
| Conditioning | MeOH | 300 µL |
| | H ₂ O | 50 µL |
| Loading | Sample or solution | 2000 µL |
| Washing | 10% (v/v) ACN in water | 800 µL |
| Eluting | 30% (v/v) ACN in 200 mM acetate buffer pH 4.0 | 150 µL |

4.4 Analytical method performances

4.4.1 Repeatability of the in-pipette tip monolithic µ-SPE

To evaluate the precision of the in-pipette tip monolith preparation, the extraction using tip-to-tip and batch-to-batch in-pipette tip monolith were investigated. The extracted amount of RAC and CLEN were monitored by HPLC method. The repeatability and precision in terms of %RSD are shown in Table 4.3. The low %RSD of peak areas less than 3.18% indicated that the preparation method is repeatable and reliable.

4.4.2 Reusability of the in-pipette tip monolithic µ-SPE

The reusability of the in-pipette tip monolithic μ -SPE was examined by regenerating the used monolith in tip before re-extracting a standard mixture of RAC and CLEN. It was found that the tips could be reused at least 10 times without loss of

extraction performance. The %RSD for signal in terms of peak areas for RAC and CLEN for 10 times extractions (n=3 tips) were 2.36 and 4.66, respectively (data are shown in APPENDIX B).

4.4.3 Breakthrough and calibration curve (linearity) study

Breakthrough or capacity is the highest amount of the analyte that can be adsorbed on the material. This property is related with the chemistry or functional groups and surface area or active sites of the material. In order to find the capacity of our monolith in tip, the loaded amount of RAC and CLEN on the tips were varied. At loading volume of 2.00 mL, the extracted analytes linearly increased with the analyte concentration as shown in Figure 4.10. The results showed wide dynamic linearity range for both RAC and CLEN (25-5,000 μ g L⁻¹ and 5-10,000 μ g L⁻¹ for RAC and CLEN, respectively). From the calibration curves, it could be concluded that the monolith in pipette tip could adsorb RAC and CLEN more than 10 and 20 μ g, respectively. Good linearity with correlation coefficients \geq 0.9999 was observed.

> รัฐว_ัวกับ เลี้ยาการ์นโลยีสุรับโ





Figure 4.10 Calibration curves of standard (a) RAC and (b) CLEN. The conditions are as described in Figure 4.7.

4.4.4 LOD and LOQ

Sensitivity of the method in terms of LOD and LOQ was evaluated. The LODs obtained from our method were 1.3 and 0.2 μ g L⁻¹ for RAC and CLEN, respectively. LOQs of 4.3 μ g L⁻¹ for RAC and 0.7 μ g L⁻¹ for CLEN were achieved. The LODs and LOQs obtained were relatively low compared with the other reported work as shown in Table 4.4 and adequate for real applications as the found concentration of RAC and CLEN were reported between 2 μ g L⁻¹ and 100 ug L⁻¹ for urine and meat samples, respectively.

4.4.5 Precision

Precision of the method for RAC and CLEN analysis using the in-pipette tip monolithic µ-SPE off-line coupled with HPLC, was examined. Inter-day and intraday precisions were studied as described in Section 3.10.5. The precision was evaluated in terms of %RSD for peak areas observed from HPLC analysis. The precision for both inter-day and intra-day were less than 3.26. The full results for these experiments are shown in Table 4.3.

⁷วักยาลัยเทคโนโลยีสุร^บ

4.4.6 Stability

In order to find lifetime of the in-pipette tip monolith, stability of the tips was performed (see details in Section 3.10.6). It was found that the tips could keep dry and stored at room temperature for at least 6 months without loss of performance and physical change.

| | RAC | CLEN |
|---|--------------------------|---------------|
| In-pipette tip monolithic µ-SPE | | |
| Repeatability | | |
| • Tip-to-tip (n=3)* | 3.18 | 2.66 |
| • Batch-to-batch (n=3)* | 2.83 | 1.27 |
| Reusability | 2.36 | 4.66 |
| Breakthrough | >10 µg | >20 µg |
| Stability | At l | east 6 months |
| Extraction time | | 5 min |
| | | |
| In-tip monolithic µ-SPE – HPLC | | |
| Calibration curve (μ g L ⁻¹) | 2 <mark>5-5</mark> 000 | 5-10000 |
| Slope | 561± <mark>0.95</mark> | 2722±9.62 |
| Intercept | -4808±1 <mark>807</mark> | 35889±36464 |
| r ² | 1.0000 | 0.9999 |
| LOD (µg L ⁻¹) | 1.3 | 0.2 |
| LOQ (µg L ⁻¹) | 4.3 | 0.7 |
| Precision | | |
| Intra-day (n=3)* | 1.70 | 3.26 |
| Inter-day (n=3)* | 3.26 | 2.73 |
| Analysis time | คโบโลยีส์ | 12 min |

Table 4.3Summary for analytical method performances.

*%RSD calculated from peak area

| Extraction | Detection | Sampla | LOD (ng g ⁻¹) | | Sa <mark>mp</mark> le/solvent | Peconstitute | Analysis | Reference | |
|----------------------|-----------|---------------------------|---------------------------|-------|-------------------------------|--------------|------------|---------------------------|--|
| method | method | Sample | RAC | CLEN | consumption** | Reconstitute | time (min) | Kererenee | |
| MIPs membrane | HPLC-DAD | Pork meat | 0.07* | 0.15* | 5 g/>10 mL | Х | >40 | (Qui et al., 2016) | |
| MIPs SBSE | HPLC-DAD | Pork, liver, feed | 0.1* | 0.21* | 5 g/>170 μL | Х | 60 | (Qiu et al., 2010) | |
| DPX | LC-MS/MS | Pork meat | 0.2 | 0.4 | 0.25 g/> <mark>850</mark> μL | \checkmark | 26 | (Mastrianni et al., 2018) | |
| In-tip µ-SPE | HPLC-UV | Meat, urine | 1.3* | 0.2* | 0.2 g,1 mL/950 μL | Х | 12 | This work | |
| NS-SFODM | CZE | Swine feed | 1.1 | 1.5 | 2 g/>50 μL | \checkmark | >27 | (Wang et al., 2015) | |
| MSPD | HPLC-DAD | Porcine liver | 6.1 | 8.4 | 0.2 g/ >13 mL | ✓ | >30 | (Zhu et al., 2014) | |
| C ₁₈ -SPE | CE-ED | Pig feed, urine, liver | 90* | 100* | 2-10 g/ >5 mL | × | 30 | (Wang et al., 2010) | |

Table 4.4Comparison of the method from this work with other works for the analysis of RAC and CLEN.

* unit of µg L⁻¹, ** total volume of solvent used

MIPs: Molecularly Imprinted Polymers, SBSE: Stir Bar Sorptive Extraction, DPX: Dispersive Pipette Extraction, SFODM: nitrogen-blowing salt-induced solidified floating organic droplet microextraction, MSPD: Micro-solid phase dispersion.

4.5 Pre-concentration factor (P.F.) and extraction efficiency (E.E)

To find the pre-concentration factor (P.F.) and extraction efficiency (E.E.) of the extraction method, spiked pooled swine and cattle urines were extracted at the optimum condition with loading volumes from 2.00-20.00 mL. The pre-concentration factor linearly increased with increasing of sample loading volume from 2.00-10.00 mL while the extraction efficiency slightly decreased (Figure 4.11). Co-elution of RAC and sample matrix in the HPLC chromatograms was found when the loading volume was more than 10.00 mL. The high extraction efficiency indicates good interaction between the analyte and the sorbent with high mass transfer rate. The P.F. is readily increased by increasing sample loading volume with small increasing of extraction time due to the high permeability of the sorbent. Therefore, the optimum loading volume depends on the sample volume availability, sample matrix and pre-concentration needed. Another advantage of the extraction method is the wide capability of the technique as the device could also employ sample volumes in the range of micro-liters, which may not be able to handle by the typical SPE cartridges or classical liquid-liquid extraction ⁷วักยาลัยเทคโนโลยีสุร^บ procedure.

63



Figure 4.11 Effect of sample loading volume on pre-concentration factor (P.F.) and extraction efficiency (E.E.) (pooled spiked swine urine samples containing 100 µg L⁻¹ RAC and 100 µg L⁻¹ CLEN). The conditions are as described in Figure 4.7.



4.6 Application of in-pipette tip monolithic µ-SPE

The method was applied for determination of RAC and CLEN in four types of samples which were swine urine, cattle urine, pork and beef samples. The samples were spiked with standard RAC and CLEN at two concentration levels of 50 and 1,000 ug L⁻¹. After sample pre-treatment as explained in Section 3.9, the spiked and nonspiked samples were extracted by the developed µ-SPE method. At the optimum condition with 2 mL sample loading, the extraction time was 5 min with solvent consumption of 425 µL. For HPLC analysis, the two analytes were separated in 7 min. It was found that no RAC and CLEN were detected in non-spiked samples. It could be concluded that the samples contained no RAC and CLEN or the RAC and CLEN in the samples were lower than 1.3 and $0.2 \ \mu g \ L^{-1}$, respectively. The accuracy of the method was evaluated in terms of percent recovery. The recoveries achieved were between 84-114% for urine samples and 83-112% for meat samples. The analysis results are shown in Table 4.5. The chromatograms for spiked samples are in Figure 4.12(a), it is clearly seen that the extraction did not only significantly enhance the analyte signals but also efficiently cleaned up the sample as only RAC and CLEN were found in the samples after the extraction. This implied that at the optimum condition, the extraction method was highly selective to the two analytes. Without the extraction, the analysis could not be performed due to the interfering by matrix signals and low analyte signals (Figure 4.12(b)).

Table 4.5Determination of RAC and CLEN in spiked meat and urine samples using
the developed in-pipette tip monolithic μ -SPE coupled with HPLC-UV
method.

| | Concentration of RAC $(u \neq I^{-1})$ | | Recoverv | Concentration of CLEN $(ug I^{-1})$ | | Recovery |
|--------------|--|--------------------|----------|-------------------------------------|--------|----------|
| Sample | Added | Found | (%) | Added | Found | (%) |
| Swine urine | 0 | ND | - | 0 | ND | - |
| | 1000 | 887.8 | 89 | 1000 | 904.8 | 90 |
| | 50 | 49.5 | 99 | 50 | 56.8 | 114 |
| Cattle urine | 0 | ND | - | 0 | ND | - |
| | 1000 | 898.3 | 90 | 1000 | 938.5 | 94 |
| | 50 | 51.7 | 103 | 50 | 42.2 | 84 |
| Pork | 0 | ND | 2 4 | 0 | ND | - |
| | 1000 | 1082.5 | 108 | 1000 | 1091.0 | 109 |
| | 50 | <mark>50</mark> .6 | 101 | 50 | 44.3 | 89 |
| Beef | 0 | ND | - | 0 | ND | - |
| | 1000 | 1120.2 | 112 | 1000 | 1114.0 | 111 |
| | 50 | 41.4 | 83 | 50 | 56.0 | 112 |

ND = Not detectable





Figure 4.12 Representative chromatograms of spiked samples containing 1 mg L⁻¹ RAC and 1 mg L⁻¹ CLEN (a) with in-pipette tip monolithic μ -SPE before HPLC analysis (b) urine sample without in-pipette tip monolithic μ -SPE. Other condition as described in Figure 4.7.

CHAPTER V

CONCLUSIONS

This thesis aims to develop a portable, low cost and green micro-extraction method and an accurate, reliable and fast analytical technique for the determination of two important RAC and CLEN in animal urine and meat samples. The green microextraction device was fabricated by *in situ* synthesis of porous MAA-EDMA monolithic material in auto-pipette tip at the monomer to porogen ratio of 18:82 and polymerization temperature of 75°C for 1 hr and 10 min. The extracted analytes were analyzed by a high separation efficiency HPLC method. SEM and FT-IR data confirmed the formation and attachment of the synthesized monolith in the tip. The preparation success rate of 95% was achieved. By assembling with a T-way valve, micro-solid phase extraction was performed without need of flow controlling system. The optimum conditions for the extraction for RAC and CLEN were 300 µL of conditioning solvent (MeOH), 800 µL of washing solvent (10% (v/v) ACN in water) and 150 µL of eluting solvent (30%(v/v) ACN in 200 mM acetate buffer pH 4.0). At 2 mL sample loading, the pre-concentration of 12 and 13 were achieved with %extraction efficiency of 92% and 100% for RAC and CLEN, respectively. However, the pre-concentration was readily increasing by increasing the sample loading volume. The extraction was performed in only 5 min with organic solvent consumption of about 425 μ L. In order to quantitate the two analytes, an HPLC method was developed. RAC and CLEN could be separated on a silica-based C_8 column with optimum mobile phase of 25% (v/v)

ACN in 20 mM acetate buffer pH 4.0 containing 2 mM triethylamine. The separation was achieved in 7 min.

Off-line coupling of the developed micro-extraction and HPLC method was applied for the analysis in spiked swine urine, cattle urine, pork and beef. The urine samples were diluted and directly loaded into the monolithic in-pipette tip device while meat samples required protein precipitation by 50 mM ZnSO₄ before the extraction. Good accuracy in terms of %recovery higher than 84% were observed. The method provided low LODs and LOQs (< 1.3 ppb and 4.3 ppb, respectively) with good interday and intra-day precisions (%RSD < 3.26). The in-pipette tip monolith could be reused at least 10 times without the loss of extraction performance.

The in-pipette tip monolith significantly improved the sensitivity and selectivity of the RAC and CLEN analysis by HPLC. This extraction method is environmentally friendly as it requires organic solvent in micro-liters volume only. In addition, the device is simple to prepare, cheap, portable and can be performed without need of special apparatus. The device could be an interesting alternative choice for other applications especially field analysis, screening test and clinical point of care as on-site sampling can be simply preformed.



REFERENCES

- Allmaier, G., Blaas, D., Bliem, C., Dechat, T., Fedosyuk, S., Gosler, I., Kowalski, H., and Weiss, V.U. (2018). Monolithic anion-exchange chromatography yields rhinovirus of high purity. Journal of Virological Methods. 251: 15-21.
- Alwael, H., Connolly, D., Clarke, P., Thompson, R., Twamley, B., O'Connor, B., and Paull, B. (2011). Pipette-tip selective extraction of glycoproteins with lectin modified gold nano-particles on a polymer monolithic phase. Analyst. 136: 2619-2628.
- Arabi, M., Ghaedi, M., and Ostovan, A. (2017). Synthesis and application of in-situ molecularly imprinted silica monolithic in pipette-tip solid-phase microextraction for the separation and determination of gallic acid in orange juice samples. Journal of Chromatography B. 1048: 102-110.
- β-agonists in USA pork. (2018). (Online) Available: https://www.bangkokbiznews.com/pr/detail/45175.
- Blomgren, A., Berggren, C., Holmberg, A., Larsson, F., Sellergren, B., and Ensing, K. (2002). Extraction of clenbuterol from calf urine using a molecularly imprinted polymer followed by quantitation by high-performance liquid chromatography with UV detection. Journal of Chromatography A. 975: 157-164.
- Cabrera, K. (2004). Applications of silica-based monolithic HPLC columns. Journal of Separation Science. 27: 843-85.

- Chaloemsuwiwattanakan, T., Sangcakul, A., Kitiyakara, C., Nacapricha, D., Wilairat, P., and Chaisuwan, P. (2016). Simple and fast analysis of iohexol in human serums using micro-hydrophilic interaction liquid chromatography with monolithic column. Journal of Separation Science. 39: 3521-3527.
- Du, T., Chen, J., Wu, M., Wang, X., Zhou, H., and Cheng, M. (2014). An in situ immobilized pipette tip solid phase microextraction method based on molecularly imprinted polymer monolith for the selective determination of difenoconazole in tap water and grape juice. Journal of Chromatography B. 951-952: 104-109.
- Du, W., Zhao, G., Fu, Q., Sun, M., Zhou, H., and Chang, C. (2014). Combined microextraction by packed sorbent and high-performance liquid chromatography- ultraviolet detection for rapid analysis of ractopamine in porcine muscle and urine samples. Food Chemistry. 145: 789-795.
- Eeltink, S., Wouters, S., Dores-Sousa, J. L., and Svec, F. (2017). Advances in organic polymer-based monolithic column technology for high-resolution liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry profiling of antibodies, intact proteins, oligonucleotides, and peptides. Journal of Chromatography A. 1498: 8-21.
- Found β-agonists in five thousand swine. (2018). (Online) Available: https://www.dailynews.co.th/agriculture/633354.
- Fresco-Cala, B., Mompó-Roselló, Ó., Simó-Alfonso, E. F., Cárdenas, S., Herrero-Martínez, J M. (2018). Carbon nanotube-modified monolithic polymethacrylate pipette tips for (micro) solid-phase extraction of antidepressants from urine samples. Microchimica Acta. 185: 127-133.

- Guo, P., Wan, J., Zhan, C., Zhu, C., Jiang, W., Ke, Y., and Wang, D. (2018). A simplified sample pretreatment for the rapid determination of 22 β-agonist residues in swine muscle and liver tissues by ultra-high-performance liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry. Journal of Chromatography B. 1096: 122-134.
- Gupta, V., Talebi, M., Deverell, J., Sandron, S., Nesterenko, P. N., Heery, B., and Paull,
 B. (2016). 3D printed titanium micro-bore columns containing polymer monoliths for reversed-phase liquid chromatography. Analytica Chimica Acta. 910: 84-94.
- He, P., Shen, L., Liu, R., Luo, Z., and Li, Z. (2011). Direct detection of β-agonists by use of gold nanoparticle-based colorimetric assays. Analytical Chemistry. 83: 6988-6995.
- Huber, S. A., Balz, A., Abert, M., and Pronk, W. (2011). Characterisation of aquatic humic and non-humic matter with size-exclusion chromatography-organic carbon detection-organic nitrogen detection (LC-OCD-OND). Water Research. 45: 879-885.
- Hussain, A., Alajmi, M. F., and Ali, I. (2016). Determination of chloramphenicol in biological matrices by solid-phase membrane micro-tip extraction and capillary electrophoresis. Biomedical Chromatography. 30: 1935-1941.
- Illegal uses of β-agonists in two Chachoengsao farms. (2018). (Online) Available: http://www.komchadluek.net/news/agricultural/337220.
- James, S. F. (1999). Analytical solid-phase extraction. New York: John Wiley&Son.
- Jin, Y. F., Zhang, Y. J., Zhang, Y. P., Chen, J., Zhou, X. M., and Bai, L. Y. (2013). Synthesis and evaluation of molecularly imprinted polymer for the

determination of the phthalate esters in the bottled beverages by HPLC. Journal of Chemistry. 2013: 1-5.

- Lin, X., Ni, Y., and Kokot, S. (2013). A novel electrochemical sensor for the analysis of β-agonists: The poly(acid chrome blue K)/graphene oxide-nafion/glassy carbon electrode. Journal of Hazardous Materials. 260: 508-517.
- Liu, B., Yan, H., Qiao, F., and Geng, Y. (2011). Determination of clenbuterol in porcine tissues using solid-phase extraction combined with ultrasound-assisted dispersive liquid-liquid microextraction and HPLC-UV detection.
 Journal of Chromatography B. 879: 90-94.
- Liu, L., Yang, C., and Yan, X. (2017). Methacrylate-bonded covalent-organic framework monolithic columns for high performance liquid chromatography.
 Journal of Chromatography A. 1479: 137-144.
- Mastrianni, K. R., Metavarayuth, K., Brewer, W. E., and Wang, Q. Analysis of 10 βagonists in pork meat using automated dispersive pipette extraction and LC-MS/MS. Journal of Chromatography B. 1084: 64-68.
- Nema, T., Chan, E. C. Y., and Ho, P. C. (2014). Applications of monolithic materials for sample preparation. Journal of Pharmaceutical and Biomedical Analysis. 87: 130-141.
- Peng, T., Wang, J., Zhao, S., Zeng, Y., Zheng, P., Liang, D., Mujtaba, G., and Jiang, H. (2018). Highly luminescent green-emitting Au nanocluster-based multiplex lateral flow immunoassay for ultrasensitive detection of clenbuterol and ractopamine. Analytica Chimica Acta. 1040: 143-149.
- Qiu, X., Xu, X., Liang, Y., Hua, Y., and Guo, H. Fabrication of a molecularly imprinted polymer immobilized membrane with nanopores and its application in

determination of β₂-agonists in pork samples. **Journal of Chromatography A**. 1429: 79-85.

- Ramelow, U., and Pingili, S. (2010). Synthesis of ethylene glycol dimethacrylatemethyl methacrylate copolymers, determination of their reactivity ratios, and a study of dopant and temperature effects on their conductivities. **Polymer**. 2: 265-285.
- Shao, B., Jia, X., Zhang, J., Meng, J., Wu, Y., Duan, H., and Tu, X. (2009). Multiresidual analysis of 16 β-agonists in pig liver, kidney and muscle by ultra performance liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry. Food Chemistry. 114: 1115-1121.
- Svec, F. (2012). Quest for organic polymer-based monolithic columns affording enhanced efficiency in high performance liquid chromatography separations of small molecules in isocratic mode. Journal of Chromatography A. 1228: 250-262.
- Toxicity of β -agonists. (2018). (Online) Available: https://www.thairath.co.th/news/society/1336681.
- Wang, H., Yan, H., Shi, M., Wang, K., Mei, K., Yu, Q., Lv, X., and Wang, X. (2015). solidified floating organic droplet microextraction for determination of clenbuterol and ractopamine in swine feed via capillary electrophoresis.
 Animal Feed Science and Technology. 209: 257-267.
- Wang, P., Wang, Z., and Su, X. (2015). A sensitive and quantitative fluorescent multicomponent immuno-chromatographic sensor for β-agonist residues.
 Biosensors and Bioelectronics. 64: 511-516.

- Wang, W., Zhang, Y., Wang, J., Shi, X., and Ye, J. (2010). Determination of β-agonists in pig feed, pig urine and pig liver using capillary electrophoresis with electrochemical detection. Meat Science. 85: 302-305.
- Wu, N., and Thompson, R. (2006). Fast and efficient separations using reversed phase liquid chromatography. Journal of Liquid Chromatography & Related Technologies. 29; 949-988.
- Xie, S., Allington, R. W., Frechet, J. M., and Svec, F. (2002). Porous polymer monoliths: an alternative to classical beads. Advances in Biochemical Engineering/Biotechnology. 76: 87-125.
- Xie, W., Mullett, W., and Pawliszyn, J. (2011). High-throughput polymer monolith in-tip SPME fiber preparation and application in drug analysis. Bioanalysis. 3: 2613-2625.
- Xiu-Juan, W., Feng, Z., Fei, D., Wei-Qing, L., Qing-Yu, C., Xiao-Gang, C., and Cheng-Bao, X. (2013). Simultaneous determination of 12 β-agonists in feeds by ultra-high-performance liquid chromatography-quadrupole-time-of-flight mass spectrometry. Journal of Chromatography A. 1278: 82-88.
- Xu, S., Wang, Y., Li, W., and Ji, Y. (2019). Covalent organic framework incorporated chiral polymer monoliths for capillary electrochromatography . Journal of Chromatography A. 1602: 481-488.
- Xu, Z., Hu, Y., Hu, Y., and Li, G. (2010). Investigation of ractopamine molecularly imprinted stir bar sorptive extraction and its application for trace analysis of β₂-agonists in complex samples. Journal of Chromatography A. 1217: 3612-3618.

- Yan, H., Liu, S., Gao, M., and Sun, N. (2013). Ionic liquids modified dummy molecularly imprinted microspheres as solid phase extraction materials for the determination of clenbuterol and clorprenaline in urine. Journal of Chromatography A. 1294: 10-16.
- Yan, K., Zhang, H., Hui, W., Zhu, H., Li, X., Zhong, F., Tong, X., and Chen, C. (2016).
 Rapid screening of toxic salbutamol, ractopamine, and clenbuterol in pork sample by high-performance liquid chromatography-UV method. Journal of food and drug analysis. 24: 277-283.
- Zhai, F. L., Huang, Y. Q., Wang, X. C., and Lai, K. Q. (2012). Surface-enhanced Raman spectroscopy for rapid determination of β-agonists in swine urine. Chinese Journal of Analytical Chemistry. 40: 718-723.
- Zhang, W., and Chen, Z. (2013). Preparation of micropipette tip-based molecularly imprinted monolith for selective micro-solid phase extraction of berberine in plasma and urine samples. Talanta. 103: 103-109.
- Zhu, Y., Yang, S., Chen, G., and Xing, J. (2014). Single "click" synthesis of a mixedmode silica sorbent and application in matrix solid-phase dispersion extraction of β-agonists from porcine liver. Journal of Chromatography A. 1345: 101-108.



APPENDIX A

EFFECT OF POLYMERIZATION TEMPERATURE AND TIME FOR SYNTHESIS OF MONOLITH IN MICRO

PIPETTE TIP

Table 1A Polymerization time and temperature for synthesis of monolith in pipette

tip.

| Tempera <mark>tur</mark> e (°C) | Time |
|---------------------------------|-------------------------|
| 60 | 4 hr |
| 70 | 2 hr |
| 75 | 1 hr 10 min |
| *Monolith composition= m | nonomers:porogens 18:82 |

APPENDIX B

REUSABILITY OF IN-PIPETTE TIP MONOLITHIC

MICRO-SOLID PHASE EXTRACTION



Figure 1B The distribution of signal in terms of peak area for 10 times extractions (n=3 tip).

| | | RAC | | | CLEN | |
|-------------|----------------|----------------|----------------|------------------|------------------|------------------|
| | Tip 1 | Tip 2 | Tip 3 | Tip 1 | Tip 2 | Tip 3 |
| Mean±S.D | 82905± 1965 | 82386± 1952 | 82443± 1937 | 273525± 12682 | 265216± 12568 | 267188± 12291 |
| %RSD | 2.37 | 2.37 | 2.35 | 4.64 | 4.74 | 4.60 |
| %RSD (Mean) | | 2.36 | | | 4.66 | |

Table 1BSummary for mean, S.D. and %RSD of peak area for RAC and CLEN.

| | 2.37 | 2.37 | 2.35 | 4.64 | 4.74 |
|--------|---------|------|----------------------|----------|------|
| l) | | 2.36 | | | 4.66 |
| En Con | ้าวักยา | | ม ี โนโลยี | a, suits | |

81

CURRICULUM VITAE

| Name | Kesara Ar-sa | anork Place of birth Samutprakarn |
|--------------|--------------|--|
| Education : | 2013-2016 | B. Sc. Chemistry, Suranaree University of Technology |
| | 2017-Presen | t M. Sc. Chemistry, Suranaree University of Technology |
| Scholarship: | 2017-Presen | t TGIST scholarship (from NSTDA) |

Publication:

- Ar-sanork K., Karuwan C., Surapanich N., Wilairat P., Nacapricha D., Chaisuwan P, Anal. Methods. (submitted).
- Ar-sanork K., Wongbuth L., Surapanich N., Wilairat P., Nacapricha D., Chaisuwan P, J. Liq. Chromatogr. Related Technol. (submitted).

Ar-sanork K., Thongsri S., Wiriyakunnan N., Chaisuwan P, Talanta (submitted).

Patent: Application No. 1901001287, 1902001463, 1902001464, 1902001465

Conference:

Ar-sanork, K., Karuwan, C., Surapanich, N., Chaisuwan, P., 14th International Conference on Flow Analysis (oral presentation).

Thongsri, S., **Ar-sanork, K**., Karuwan, C., Surapanich, N., Chaisuwan, P., 14th International Conference on Flow Analysis (Poster Presentation).

- Karuwan, C., Kamsong, W., Sappat, A., **Ar-sanork, K**., Chaisuwan. P., Tuatranont, A., 6th International Conference on Bio-Sensing Technology.
- Award: NSTDA Outstanding Student Award 2019